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Monday, May 9, 2011

--- On commencing at 9:32 a.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.

Good morning, everyone.  The Board has convened this morning in the matter of an application made by Ontario Power Authority pursuant to sections 25.20 and 25.21 of the Electricity Act.

This application addresses the OPA's proposed expenditure and revenue requirement for the year 2011.  This case has been assigned Board File No. EB-2010-0279.

This hearing is scheduled to proceed today, May the 9th, and May 10th, and then again on May 12th and 13th.

The parties have established a schedule for the proceeding which has issue 7.2, which relates to the proposed recovery of fees from export customers, to be heard tomorrow on May the 10th, and issues related to OPA's conservation work on May 12th and 13th.

The export fees panels will not be available until tomorrow, but we do request that the conservation panel be available starting tomorrow afternoon in the event that the gas fees issue is completed early.

Today the Board will hear all other issues.  I know the Board Staff has canvassed the parties with a view to determining anticipated time in cross-examination, and the Board is appreciative of the parties' efforts in this regard and will expect parties to keep to their estimates.

My name is Paul Sommerville.  Sitting with me is Karen Taylor.  Can I have appearances, please?
Appearances:


MR. CASS:  Fred Cass for the Ontario Power Authority.

MR. BRETT:  Tom Brett for the Energy Alliance, the Canadian Energy Efficiency Alliance.  Good morning, Mr. Chair, Panel.

MS. BRANT:  Cheri Brant for the Ontario Sustainable Energy Association.

MR. GARDNER:  Matthew Gardner for LIEN.

MR. POCH:  David Poch for the Green Energy Coalition.  Good morning, Panel.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Good morning.

MR. WARREN:  Robert Warren for the Consumers Council of Canada.

MR. FAYE:  Peter Faye for Energy Probe, and with me is David MacIntosh from Energy Probe.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Faye.

MR. RODGER:  Mark Rodger for Hydro Québec Energy Marketing.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Rodger.

MR. BEAUCHAMP:  John Beauchamp for the Association of Power Producers of Ontario.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Good morning.  Michael Buonaguro for VECC.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. DeROSE:  Good morning.  Vince DeRose on behalf of CME.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Mark Rubenstein, School Energy Coalition.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, members of the Panel.  Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.  I'm joined today by Michael Bell and Roy Hrab, and I've been asked to enter an appearance for Mr. Basil Alexander for Pollution Probe.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Mr. Poch.
Preliminary Matters:


MR. POCH:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I have a witness on the CDM matters, Mr. Chris Neme of the Energy Futures group.  With the Board's permission, I would propose to tentatively make him available -- have him available as of Friday morning, whenever he gets reached on Friday, in the hope that he can get in and out in that day, but which would mean he would not be available sooner.

If that works for the Board, I'll go ahead and have him make his travel arrangements.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think there is sufficient material prior to that that we can accommodate that requirement.  Mr. Neme comes from Vermont, I think.

MR. POCH:  We'll take stock Thursday midday, and if he's not going to be reached on Friday for some reason, of course we could delay it further, but thank you very much.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Are there any other preliminary matters?

MR. RODGER:  Mr. Chairman, my client's interest in this case is restricted to the proposed export uses fees, so with that and the Board's permission, I would like to excuse myself and I'll appear again tomorrow morning.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Rodger.

MR. RODGER:  Thank you, sir.

MR. BEAUCHAMP:  And I'm in the same position on behalf of APPrO.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Beauchamp.

MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I guess we're ready to proceed, Mr. Cass.  You have a witness panel ready for swearing?

MR. CASS:  Yes, I do, sir.  Just before they come up to be sworn, perhaps I will introduce the witnesses for the Board.  As you have pointed out, Mr. Chair, the OPA has assembled three witness panels, in total, for the hearing.  As a result of the Board's Procedural Order No. 5, the OPA had an indication from parties of areas that would be pursued on cross-examination.

With that information, the OPA assembled the witnesses that it thought would be best to address the areas that had been identified.

The first panel consists of three witnesses.  I'll just identify them for the Board, starting with the person furthest from me.  That's Mr. Terry Gabriele.  He is director finance of the OPA.  Next to him is Chuck Farmer.  Chuck is -- Mr. Farmer is director, planning policy and approvals with power system planning at the OPA.  And, finally, Shawn Cronkwright, who is director, renewables procurement, electricity resources.

The CVs of all three witnesses have been filed, so I don't intend to have any questions about their qualifications, and if it's satisfactory to the Board, they can come forward and be sworn.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Welcome.
ONTARIO POWER AUTHORITY - PANEL 1

Shawn Cronkwright, Sworn

Chuck Farmer, Sworn

Terry Gabriele, Sworn

MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, I have no examination-in-chief, other than just to have the witnesses adopt the evidence in the areas that are relevant to today's testimony.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.
Examination by Mr. Cass:

MR. CASS:  Perhaps starting with Mr. Cronkwright, can you confirm, Mr. Cronkwright, that you can adopt the OPA's evidence and answers to interrogatories with respect to strategic objective number 3?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  I can confirm that.

MR. CASS:  And, Mr. Farmer, you adopt the evidence and answers to interrogatories with respect to strategic objective number 2?

MR. FARMER:  I do.

MR. CASS:  Finally, Mr. Gabriele, you adopt the evidence with respect to strategic objectives 4 and 5, and also the CDM series of exhibits; is that right?

MR. FARMER:  I do.

MR. CASS:  And that is the only examination-in-chief, Mr. Chair.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  I think your microphone is -- have you turned it down purposely, Mr. Cass?

MR. CASS:  I have not.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think that will assist matters somewhat.  Thank you.

MR. CASS:  I'm sure it would.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think an order for cross-examination has been suggested.  Who is to go first?

MR. WARREN:  Yes, just before we, again, I had intended to hear the lengthy examination-in-chief of panel 1.  Now having heard it, my client's interest is in the third topic, which is conservation, so I'll return when that matter is up.  Thank you very much.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  Mr. DeRose.
Cross-Examination by Mr. DeRose:

MR. DeROSE:  Yes.  Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

Panel, my name is Vince DeRose.  I'm here on behalf of Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.  Mr. Farmer, I know you from many years ago in another -- when you were wearing another hat.  The other two witnesses, this is our first time meeting.

I'd like to start, if I can have you turn up CME interrogatories, number 1.

And, panel, what I'd like to -- and I should preface my entire cross-examination today with this.  There are some questions, and I will try and identify them for you, that I believe would be overlapping with conservation.  So to the extent that you feel it's necessary just to defer it to the conservation panel, please let me know and we'll move on.  But there are some cross-cutting issues that I think would be equally applicable to the strategic objectives that you're here to speak to that would also be applicable to conservation.

So I've tried my best to separate them, but I suspect I'll need some guidance from you on that.


Now, with respect to CME Interrogatory No. 1, if I can have you turn to page 3 -- well, actually, let's start at page 4 of 6.

And first of all, who is in charge of business strategies and solutions, to answer the questions with respect to BS&S?

MR. GABRIELE:  That would be me.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And in terms of ER?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  I'll be speaking to ER.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Well, on ER, you'll see at the top of page 4 of 6, you've provided us with a chart that sets out both your internal resources for 2009, 2010, 2011, and then your external resources by initiative.

First of all, in terms of the external resources, do I understand it right that the reason why you have not identified or broken out the external resources for 2009 and 2010 is that those initiatives were not in existence in those prior years?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  I believe that the numbers are for 2011 with respect to filing the 2011 rate requirement, and that's the reason.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So you've -- let's, then, just back it up a little bit.

You've provided the total for external resources for 2009 and 2010 at the bottom; do you see that?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  Yes, I see that.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And why have you not provided the breakout of 2009 and 2010 the way you have for 2011?

MR. GABRIELE:  I can't answer why we did not, but we can do that by going through a series of invoices and build it up.

MR. DeROSE:  Well, maybe to help you, if you turn to page 2 of 6, I was sort of warming up with these.  I thought these would be easy ones for you.

Under the "Response", second sentence, you say:

"The initiatives laid out in this application are different than those in 2010 and 2009 revenue requirement submissions."

My question was really -- and I thought that was the reason you couldn't do it.  So let me stop there.

Are you saying you can do it?  Or that because the initiatives were different in 2011 than they were in 2009, it's not possible?

MR. GABRIELE:  No, it is possible.  But it would be a list of different initiatives, so if you wanted to understand how the number was -- the work under -- that added up or summed up to the numbers for 2009, we can do that by going back into the detail.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Perhaps I - I don't want to ask you to do that much work.

Some of these initiatives, to me, look like they would be continuing from prior years.  So for instance, under your "Procurement Initiatives" you say:

"Continue to Focus on achieving FIT and microFIT Programs performance objectives."

The fact you say "continue" suggests to me that at least in 2010 that was one of your initiatives, that it's a continuing initiative; correct?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  Yes, some of the initiatives are continuing, whereas others are not necessarily continuations.

MR. DeROSE:  What I would like is if you can identify those initiatives that are continuing, and show us what the budget has been -- if they're continuing from 2009, we'd just like to see how the budget has either increased, decreased or stayed the same, but only for those initiatives that are continuing initiatives.

Initiatives that were one-off or that are new initiatives, we don't need you to go back in time and identify those.

Is that something you could do easily?

MR. GABRIELE:  I would say that it is possible.  The level of effort, I wouldn't be able to determine until I see what's available.

MR. DeROSE:  Well, when you say it's -- let's just take your "continue to focus on achieving FIT and microFIT programs performance objectives" as an example.

Are you telling me that the only way you could go back and determine how much you spent in 2010 on that initiative would be to go and look at invoices, that you don't have an Excel spreadsheet or you don't track that on a going basis?  That's not something that would be readily available?

MR. GABRIELE:  We changed accounting systems in 2009, and the history is in two different systems.  So to confirm that the numbers are absolutely correct and that we've got the right compilation of activities, we would confirm everything.

MR. DeROSE:  And would the change in accounting system only impact 2009?  Would it impact 2010?

MR. GABRIELE:  It depends on the initiative and how long it was in duration.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Perhaps I'm missing something here.

I mean, we have a total for external resources for 2009 and 2010.  So that number came -- you developed that number from a list of activities and invoices, presumably?

MR. GABRIELE:  Yes, correct.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And that's the same list that you would derive the information that Mr. DeRose is looking for, I would take it?

MR. GABRIELE:  I did not personally compile it, but I would assume that's correct.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  So why don't we have an undertaking to that effect?  And as I understand the undertaking, it is to provide the numbers for external resources -- this is from a table on Exhibit 1, tab 11, schedule 1, page 4 of 6 -- so to fill in, to the extent possible, the "External Resources" columns for 2009 and 2010 for the continuing programs.

MR. DeROSE:  Correct.  And again, I'm not sure whether this is something that I can ask for in this panel.  I'll turn to Mr. Cass on this.

But I'm going to ask for the same thing with respect to the PSP and the conservation charts on page 3 of 6.  I realize that's, I believe, the next panel, but it's the exact same information.  You'll see that they've identified initiatives, provided the breakdown for the 2011 budget, but have not provided the breakdown of 2009 and 2010.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Any difficulty with that, Mr. Cass?

MR. CASS:  Not that I'm aware of.  And I think we might as well take the undertaking now, regardless of the later panel on conservation, and get the work started.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  If this proves to be a -- frankly, I would be surprised if this is the case, but if it proves to be an extremely onerous undertaking, advise the Board and we'll deal with it.  Thank you.

So make those undertakings -- why don't we make it one undertaking to cover those charts?

And which specific charts are you referring to, Mr. DeRose?

MR. DeROSE:  It's Exhibit I, tab 11, schedule 1, starting at page 3 of 6, the charts that provide the internal and external resources for PSP and for conservation, and on page 4 of 6 for ER.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  J1.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO PROVIDE BREAKDOWN FOR CHARTS IN EXHIBIT I, TAB 11, SCHEDULE 1, STARTING AT PAGE 3 OF 6, FOR INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL RESOURCES FOR PSP AND FOR CONSERVATION.

MR. DeROSE:  Now, panel, when you were developing your budgets, and so -- for instance, we'll go back to the ER budget on page 4 of 6, just by way of example.  When you were developing the budget, which you have at $6,202,000, does senior management provide you with business planning instructions that you follow, a methodology by which you develop that budget?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  We develop the budget based on, as you mentioned earlier, continuing initiatives, if there are any, or new or anticipated initiatives for the upcoming year.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And do you receive any written guidelines or policies or instructions from either senior management or from your finance group that gives you direction on the steps, the considerations that you should undertake, or the steps that you should go through in developing that budget?

MR. GABRIELE:  The budget process actually starts with a leadership team strategy session, and they examine what is facing the OPA, in their opinion, and then we have a broader team meeting with all of the senior operational folks.  And then from that, a template is provided to them to go through and build from a zero-based budgeting process, as Shawn just mentioned, to build up the estimate of the costs of the activities that we anticipate.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And when you say "zero based", you're talking -- it's a grassroots -- it's from the bottom up, that you start with zero and you identify the initiatives and the costs that you are going to incur for the year?

MR. GABRIELE:  Yes.  We look at what we believe will be the activities that we'll undertake, and then try and estimate what the cost of that would be.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And you would, then, I guess, as a department or by strategic objective, develop a budget.  Is that then presented to senior management?

MR. GABRIELE:  That is correct.  First, though, we sum up all of the initial estimates to see what the total impact is, and then we would adjust that to what would be perceived an appropriate spending level.  It could be up or down from that.

MR. DeROSE:  And, sorry, when you say "we" adjust it, who's "we"?

MR. GABRIELE:  Well, not we.  I guess I should say the OPA, so the executive team.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And this year you received all your grassroots budgets.  Was the overall budget either increased or decreased at that level?

MR. GABRIELE:  So for the 2011 revenue requirement submission, the initial estimate was a little above target level.

MR. DeROSE:  And when you say "target level" --

MR. GABRIELE:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  -- what do you mean by "target level"?

MR. GABRIELE:  Well, we were looking, based on the provincial conditions, to maintain our budget at or below the previous year's.

MR. DeROSE:  And who established that target level for you?

MR. GABRIELE:  I don't actually personally know where that came from, but I would say it is the executive team that would have responsibility for it.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And when you were looking at that budget target and whether you hit the budget target or not, did you take into consideration the FIT registration, what I would describe as -- this is new revenue for you in this year from the FIT registration.  Did you take into consideration that new revenue stream?

MR. GABRIELE:  Yes, we look at our net revenue requirement, so that includes non-refundable fees that we receive from FIT applications.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, each of the individual budgets associated with each of the strategic objectives that are presented, and then put into a broader group, are those presented to you in writing or in PowerPoint?  How does that happen?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  I'm sorry, can you clarify to which objectives you're referring?

MR. DeROSE:  Well, for instance, let's start with ER.  You develop their zero-based budget and you come up with a number that I'm assuming is going to be -- I shouldn't assume.  Your initial budget before it went up to the executive level, do you know what it was?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  I'm not aware of that right now.  I don't know what that number is at this point.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Do you remember whether it was more or less than the number presented in the evidence?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  I don't know what the number was, at this point, to a preliminary process.  I'm sorry.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And I think we should be careful.  I don't understand that as a preliminary process.  I understand that as that the team responsible for ER performs the zero-based budget analysis and develops a number; correct?

MR. GABRIELE:  Sorry, the initial compilation is for the OPA, so an individual department looks at their initiatives, but we compile the first draft at an OPA level.  The department salaries and compensation and benefit and administration are handled in a different fashion, as they're considered to be more like -- more like a fixed cost, I guess.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.

MR. GABRIELE:  So, really, the compilation is on an initiative basis, and that is the professional and consulting fees.

MR. DeROSE:  So when you're developing your budgets, you're only looking at external resources, not internal resources?

MR. GABRIELE:  No, we look at both.  However, you start with -- we start with the initiatives, and then based on that we determine what is the level of effort that we have and does that have an impact on things like head count and things like administration.  And so then we compile an overall OPA budget.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Well, let's go back to the ER chart on tab I, tab 11, schedule 1, page 4 of 6, and we'll look at the internal resources which you have totalled at the bottom of $6.202 million.  Do you see that, panel?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  Yes, the table you're referring to.

MR. DeROSE:  So when you first developed the budget, did you actually have all of the various initiatives filled in with numbers that added up to $6.202 million?  So, for instance, would there be a number under internal resources for:  Continue to focus on achieving FIT and microFIT programs' performance objectives?

MR. GABRIELE:  I believe in the evidence filed we did mention that we utilize OPA internal resources on a pooled basis and a cross -- a cross-functional basis.  So we don't devise them on an individual initiative basis in a specific division.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So you would not be able to tell the Board, for instance, out of the budget of just over $6 million, how much of that budget is going to be used on procurement initiatives as opposed to contract management initiatives, as opposed to policy and analysis initiatives; is that fair?

MR. GABRIELE:  That is correct.

MR. DeROSE:  Now, panel, can I have you turn to CME Interrogatory No. 2.  I'm going to shift gears a little bit here.

Let me start with this.  As I understand it, the OPA assesses cost-effectiveness across all of its strategic objectives, not just those relating to conservation.  Is that -- am I correct with that, or do you only assess cost-effectiveness in the context of conservation?

MR. FARMER:  Just for clarity, when you say the OPA assesses its, do you mean specifically the work of the OPA or the outcomes of the work of the OPA cost-effectiveness as it relates to plans, integrated plans, perhaps?

MR. DeROSE:  I think it would be both.  I think I'm focussing more on the integrated plans.  And on the integrated plans, is that the panel for Thursday?

MR. FARMER:  No.  Certainly I can speak to integrated plans.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Well, in that case -- well, let me start by this.  Do you assess the long-term economic feasibility of any of your -- of the total integrated plans?

MR. FARMER:  I'm not sure what's meant by economic feasibility.  We do assess the costs of the long-term plans that we produce.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And when you say you "assess the costs" from CME No. 2, do you assess it just by the application of a LUEC metric?

MR. FARMER:  No, that is not correct.  We have many ways of assessing costs that are used depending on the situation that we face.  So when it comes to dealing with specific options -- so if you think of the planning process, we look at the amount of resources that are required to meet demand and appropriate planning reserves.  We see where the gaps are within the system, and so we start to identify options that might -- that might fill those.

And LUEC is a very useful screen for those options to determine which ones are of the least cost.  So to the extent that cost is what we are considering, then the LUEC is a tool that is useful in comparing various specific options, types of generators, et cetera.

We also screen conservation programs on a TRC and a PAC basis.  However, when we get to building supply scenarios, which are what long-term plans are built over, those are combinations of options that will supply electricity to ratepayers over a 20-year period.  And so we tend to look more at total cost of the plan over that period.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And the total cost analysis that you look over the period, is that something that -- is that an ongoing analysis that your staff are undertaking, or is that something that is only developed in the context of either the long-term electricity plan or the IPSP?

MR. FARMER:  It's important to note that planning is an ongoing process, and between Integrated Power System Plans, for example, things do change.  And the OPA is constantly updating its plans as things change, so as resources come in or go out of service, or as economic conditions change, the OPA updates its plans.

And part of an update is to look at all of the indicators of a plan's performance, of which cost is a significant one.

So yes, it's updated not on ongoing basis, but as we build new outlooks and scenarios.

MR. DeROSE:  And sorry, when you say when you build outlook and scenarios, is that annually?  Is it bi-annually?  Is it quarterly?  Or is it -- I mean, is there any specific time period --


MR. FARMER:  No.

MR. DeROSE:  -- that one can specific expect that to occur, the updates to be rolling out?

MR. FARMER:  No, there's not a specific time period.  If nothing significant has changed, then there is not a need to update either a demand forecast or a supply plan, a transmission plan, or a cost assessment.

However, if things change, then it is appropriate to update them.  So it's not on a fixed sort of annual or bi-annual cycle.  It's as required.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And under your current budget levels, do you have the staff to conduct overall electricity and total bill analysis for Ontario customers, long-term?  So looking five years, 10 years, 15 years?  Do you have the staff that are capable of undertaking an analysis of the cost impact, the bill impact on customers in Ontario of the current...

MR. FARMER:  Well, I should stress that we don't necessarily at this time look specifically at certain bill impacts.  We assess how bills will be altered over time, based on the plan or planning outlooks by looking at the cost per megawatt-hour that we can forecast.

It's very difficult for us to look at specific bills, as those are processes that are involved with ratemaking and they vary by location or type of customer, and we don't have that level of granularity in our analysis.

But we can assess bills at a higher level.

To your question of are we staffed appropriately, I'm very comfortable that the power system planning unit, working together with all of the other systems at the OPA has the right level of resources to deliver on maintaining updated plans.

MR. DeROSE:  But do I understand your answer that while you feel you're staffed appropriately, the OPA is not capable of assessing the total bill impact on customers?

MR. FARMER:  I think that comes down to an assessment of what is a total bill impact, and I believe what I was saying was that the –- the ability to assess, for example, the specific bill impacts over a 20-year plan on, for example, an industrial customer or a residential customer is not something we have the capability to do because those specific bill impacts, the bills that customer paid, are a function of many things, and that includes ratemaking before the Board, it includes government policy decisions to provide rebates, perhaps, or northern allowances -- those are things that you are in play now, and we cannot forecast what those might be -- and similarly, they vary based on whether they're distribution- or transmission-connected types of customers.

And so what I was trying to stress is that our resolution on the bill is at a cost per megawatt-hour level that is generic to all customers.  And you can watch how that changes over time to get an assessment of how bills may change over time.  But the OPA doesn't forecast what the specific ratemaking processes are likely to be.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And just to close the loop on that, I take it you don't do it because you feel you don't have the necessary information, and as such, you are not capable of doing it?  Or -- as opposed to electing not to do it?

MR. FARMER:  I would suggest that in order to be able to do bill impact assessments at the level I was describing, where we get into customer types and location, who is serving, varying volumes and varying usage types, I believe we would need more people to be able to do that.

I'm not sure that that investment would be particularly fruitful.  I think for planning work, I think that being able to assess bills at a cost per megawatt-hour is appropriate.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  But with more people, you could do it?

MR. FARMER:  Yes.  I haven't thought that one through as to how many more or how we might have to realign, but I think you could throw resources at people.

MR. DeROSE:  I'm not going to ask you for your budget.

MR. FARMER:  We could throw resources at that if that were desirable.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, in your evidence, you also talk about -- and again, this may be in the context, exclusively, of the power system planning.  If it is, please -- if it's to be booted, let me know.

But you talk about the importance of sustainability in looking at economic, social, and environmental factors.

Is this the panel that I should ask questions about that to?

MR. FARMER:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  I understand from your answers to interrogatories that you looked at sustainability in the context of IPSP I.  I'll refer to that as the previous, and IPSP No. 2 as the future.

Do you, on an ongoing basis, assess sustainability?

MR. FARMER:  We do assess sustainability on an ongoing basis.  It is important to consider that as the OPA assesses sustainability, it is in the context of how the electricity system performs, and not in perhaps a broader sustainability context.

MR. DeROSE:  And can you describe -- are you able to describe to the Board the test that you apply on an ongoing basis to determine sustainability?

MR. FARMER:  It isn't actually a test.  There's not a threshold level that has been established for sustainability.

What we do, as we laid out in the first IPSP that was filed with the Board, is we assess indicators of things that go into sustainability, and so if you look at the criteria that we filed for the development of the plan, we looked at -- and I'll probably get them -- probably won't remember all of them -- but feasibility, reliability, flexibility, cost, environmental performance or sustainability, and societal acceptance were the six.

And those embodied a good holistic look at sustainability for the electricity system.

We report on those indicators, so in my earlier answers relative to cost, what I was signalling is we look at the costs and we report on what those costs will be.

And we do that similarly for the other indicators.  We look at environmental performance, particularly emissions.  We can also look at land use.  And we signal those, so that decisions can be made.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And in the context of looking at - with all of those factors that you described, either with one or a combination of those factors, you would be looking at, broadly speaking, how -- well, how or whether Ontario's economy can withstand the potential increase in electricity prices into the future?

That would be one of the elements, when you're talking about sustainability and the economics and the social aspect and societal acceptance; correct?

MR. FARMER:  So I did differentiate broader sustainability goals, and so the OPA does not actually have a threshold for prices that the -- if I can use your words, the economy can withstand.

What the electricity system does is provide reliable electricity.  It complies with government policy.  And where we have the discretion to make recommendations and decision, we do so, using the criteria, but we don't have a threshold as to what price electricity, when paid, might have an impact one way or the other on customers.

That is a matter of policy.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Then can I turn you to CME Interrogatory No. 5?

And as you'll see, the question was this:
"What studies, if any, have been commissioned or conducted by the internal and/or external resources deployed by the OPA to estimate the variability of the various sectors in Ontario's economy to withstand electricity price increases that are likely to ensue?"

The answer is:
"Cost is an important element considered by the OPA when evaluating the sustainability of options."

And then see Interrogatory Response No. 6.

I've gone to 6, and in 6 you confirm that you monitor neighbouring jurisdictions, the prices, and that you addressed some of these issues in the IPSP I.  But you don't answer the question of whether any studies have actually been undertaken.

Have any studies been undertaken, or is the only study your comparison of neighbouring jurisdictions?

MR. FARMER:  So back to the previous answer, we do look at cost, and that is an internal capability that we have built to be able to assess plans and what they would cost on an annual basis over the life of the plan, so over the 20 years.  And so that would be what I would characterize as an internal study.

We have not crafted any opinion.  So in terms of providing analysis that shows what neighbouring jurisdictions are paying for electricity, we do that because we think that is useful information when decisions are being made.  We do not have a study as to what is the appropriate relationship between those prices that are paid in Ontario and the other jurisdiction.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And I take it that you also do not have any studies that are looking at the cost impact by -- on Ontario's economy?  That's not something that you've undertaken?

MR. FARMER:  No.

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you.  Panel, do you consider that - well, does the OPA have a role or a responsibility in making electricity costs transparent in Ontario, transparent to consumers and ratepayers?  Is that one of the roles of the OPA?

MR. FARMER:  Yes.  The OPA does its analysis of costs and at the level of granularity that we can.  I would say that we have greater understanding of the costs of generating electricity and transmission costs than we do, perhaps, of the distribution portions of the bill, but we do -- and I believe in the IPSP we created exhibits that showed that information in considerable detail.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And since the IPSP I stopped, up until today, what steps or what reports or what publicly available documents -- what has the OPA done to increase transparency of electricity costs in that sense?

I appreciate that information was filed in the IPSP, and I appreciate -- I'm assuming information will be filed in the next one, but we have a bit of a gap.  What do you do on an ongoing basis?

MR. FARMER:  We have not reported on plans, in general, in the public forum since the IPSP.  We have maintained updated plans, but there has not been a forum where they have been produced, no.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay, thank you.

Now, panel, I'm going to now turn to integrated planning, so we'll switch gears a little bit.

First of all, I take it you would agree that there is a need for integrated planning in Ontario?

MR. FARMER:  Yes, there is.

MR. DeROSE:  And would you agree that one of the purposes of integrated planning is to eliminate overlap?

MR. FARMER:  Not to put too fine a point on it, I'm not sure what the overlap would be.  The purpose of integrated planning is to show how electricity service in Ontario will evolve, given things that are happening in the supply, transmission, demand, conservation areas.  I'm not sure which overlap you're referring to.

MR. DeROSE:  Well, let's start at the 10,000-foot level.  Would we agree that if there is an overlap in the roles that, let's say, the OPA and transmission utilities and distribution utilities -- if there was an overlap in the roles and responsibilities and the actions being undertaken, that is something that we want to avoid?

MR. FARMER:  I would agree that overlap would not be tremendously desirable between those entities.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And am I right that the OPA is the lead coordinator in the province for electricity?

MR. FARMER:  For long-term electricity planning, the OPA leads on integrated planning.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And by "long term", how many years are you talking?

MR. FARMER:  We're tasked generally with 20-year plans.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And so if we are looking at something that, let's say, is procurement that you are conducting that is ten years, you would still take the lead on that for coordinating?

MR. FARMER:  I did actually miss your question there.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay, sorry.  You say you coordinate on 20-year plans, but in terms of day to day, so you're focussing -- let's talk about -- I mean, pick any of your programs that are shorter than 20 years.  Let me start there.

You have programs that are shorter than 20 years; correct?

MR. FARMER:  Yes.  I just don't want to confuse integrated planning with procurement.  Integrated planning would identify the resource needs over the 20-year period of time.  It would identify when those resources need to be in service to provide reliable service to Ontarians.

It might, in most cases, identify the lead times that are required to develop those resources, so those lead times vary depending on what it is.  And it would signal the need for procurement.

Procurement currently requires directives to do that, and I don't think I would want to confuse the life of a program with a planning horizon.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Maybe I should rephrase it this way.

I take it that you would agree that the OPA has a role -- a few different integration roles.  One would be the conservation integration, but that would be the panel on Thursday?

MR. FARMER:  Again, I can speak to how conservation is integrated into plans.  The procurements themselves and the program development would be the panel on Thursday.

MR. DeROSE:  And let's just start at this level first.  There's conservation integration.  There would be resource integration?

MR. FARMER:  That is correct.

MR. DeROSE:  There would be transmission integration?

MR. FARMER:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  And in terms of transmission integration, those are all long term; correct?

MR. FARMER:  Again, in planning, we work across the entire horizon, so there are some urgent matters that need to be addressed in transmission.  I'm not actually a transmission planning expert, but some of them are regional types of issues.  And so, again, nothing is built extremely quickly in the electricity sector, but they certainly aren't 20 years out.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Maybe I can ask it this way.

What resources do you allocate to ensuring that the work being undertaken by the OPA is coordinated with -- and I'll say the Ministry of Energy, the IESO, Hydro One Transmission?  How do you ensure that you are effectively coordinating those activities that would be -- that would affect all of those entities?

MR. FARMER:  So it isn't a specific resource allocation.  It is the task of the entire power system planning unit and the other units of the OPA to be constantly communicating with our partners, who also have roles to play in this.  So within our power system planning group, our transmission planners, for example, are often in communications with all of the transmitters.

As they consider the needs, they talk with LDCs, particularly as it relates to regional plans.  Our supply planners are often in conversations with the IESO, ensuring that we're working towards common goals and exchanging views.  And all of the other participants in the sector, it's an ongoing conversation.  It would be difficult to do good integrated planning if you didn't have that level of relationship.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So one element is regular dialogue; is that fair?

MR. FARMER:  That is fair.

MR. DeROSE:  But would you agree with me that regular dialogue is somewhat ad hoc, in the sense that sometimes you'll talk and sometimes you won't?

Can we agree on that?

MR. FARMER:  That is probably fair, yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Do you have any type of project management or any type of formal plan that sets out the roles and responsibilities of the OPA as a coordinator of that integration or as the head integrator, beyond just saying:  We're going to have regular dialogue?

Do you have a project management roadmap, policies, guidelines, a one-year plan, a five-year plan, a three-year plan?  Anything beyond the assurance that you have regular dialogue?

MR. FARMER:  There isn't a master plan, if I could put it that way, for inter-agency dialogue or co-operation or whatever the term is.

We all have our mandates, as established in the various regulations, and we all execute those.

What I would suggest is that what happens is a lot of the dialogue will happen given an event that is going on.  So if there's a regulatory proceeding that the OPA should be participating in, for whatever reason -- whether it is one of ours or it is perhaps one of the other regulated entities and we have a role to play in that -- there is dialogue.

And in the development of an IPSP, we are very reliant on analysis and work done by our partners.  And so there is project management within the specific initiatives themselves.

I don't know of a master plan.  I do know there are regular meetings, and I attend some of those, where issues are discussed.

MR. DeROSE:  Can I take you to CME Interrogatory No. 10?

And you'll see that the question we asked was this:

"How frequently does the OPA expect the electricity price increase estimates in the report to be revised and communicated to the public and will these pricing studies be a collaborative effort involving the OPA, IESO, MOE, and others."

The answer is:

"The question of the frequency of price estimate revisions and any potential associated studies is best posed to the Ministry of Energy."

And this leads -- I mean, if we come back to your coordinated integrated planning process and your role as the provincial integrated planning coordinator, first of all, would pricing and pricing changes not be an important piece of information, as an integrated coordinator?

MR. FARMER:  We certainly do maintain updated views on cost.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And when you say "The question of the frequency of price estimate revisions... is best posed to the Ministry of Energy," is that because the Ministry of Energy conducts the price estimate revisions, or because you can't disclose it unless you're told to?

MR. FARMER:  As you are asking the question, it occurs to me that I may have misinterpreted the interrogatory that you had posed.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.

MR. FARMER:  And so for clarity, when you say estimates in the report, may I ask -- I had assumed that to be the Long-Term Energy Plan, which was an estimate created and created by the Ministry of Energy, and I didn't want to answer on behalf of the Ministry of Energy.

Perhaps I have the wrong report.

MR. DeROSE:  Yeah, I was referring to the 2009 annual report.  In your annual report, you'll normally provide some high-level estimates.

So I take it your answer would be different?

MR. FARMER:  Well, my answer wouldn't be to defer our annual report to the Minister of Energy, and I apologize if that confused anybody; my fault for not clarifying the question.

So in thinking of the question around how frequently does the OPA expect price estimates to be revised, the next estimate that the OPA is likely to provide will be in the IPSP process that is upcoming.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And so that's part of the question.  This has two other elements.

Second is how often does the OPA undertake it for internal purposes?  So it's -- I take it you don't wait that long?

MR. FARMER:  As I mentioned, the OPA does update plans on an ongoing basis, as conditions change.  It's not a regular frequency.  It's not an annual event.  Sometimes it is more often, and sometimes it is less.

And so part of updating plans is updating our forecast of total cost of electricity service.  I also have already stated that no, we have not made those plans public since the last IPSP.

MR. DeROSE:  Why not?  Why is that not something that you would disclose on a regular basis?

MR. FARMER:  I'm not sure that it would be tremendously useful to have updated plans made public on a regular basis.

I do accept that there's a desire to see them, and maybe that scenario we need to look at improving on, but conditions change frequently, and I think that currently our view is that the IPSP cycle is the appropriate cycle for that review and discussion.

MR. DeROSE:  And sorry, Mr. Farmer, when -- I just want to make sure we're talking about the same thing.

When you say updating plans -- so the IPSP, which is in my mind a big process - as opposed to price estimates - which is a smaller component of the larger plan; correct?

MR. FARMER:  Well, no.  And I stress cost estimates rather than price estimates, Mr. DeRose.

In order to do a cost estimate, one has to put together a plan.  And so we maintain an updated, integrated plan.  We do those updates as conditions change.  And it is the act of planning that is the true value.

The Integrated Power System Plan will be released and will conform with government directives, so it will be updated for what the government's requirements are, and it is a big process, but we are able to maintain plans on an ongoing basis.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Can I take you to Interrogatory No. 13, CME's No. 13?

Now, this is a question about CDM programs, but my question relates to the role as an –- as your integrated planning.  So let me put the question to you, and if you want to defer it, you can defer it, but...

We asked what resources does the OPA deploy and what methods do those resources apply to, to ensure that the CDM programs provided by the OPA and those of LDCs are not -- I'm going to have trouble with the word -- duplicative.  And the answer is that it's the Board's responsibility to assess whether the LDCs' proposed Board-approved CDM programs are not duplicative with the OPA's.

And that struck us as something that we would have expected the OPA, as provincial coordinator, would have that responsibility, not the Board.

Is that a question to be put to you or a question to be put to your conservation panel?

MR. FARMER:  No.  As it relates to program designs and alignment with LDCs, that is very much a question that should be asked of the conservation panel.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay, fair enough.  They have a heads-up.

Now, could I have you -- sorry, that's going to be it for the CME interrogatories, so you can put away that binder.

Now, I don't think you need to turn it up, but in GEC No. 3, the Green Energy Coalition asked for you to provide the planning outlook report referred to at Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, page 9, and your response was to see Board Staff Interrogatory No. 2.  I went back to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 2, which you might want to turn up.

And I could not find -- I could not find any either producing it or refusing to produce the outlook plan.  Have I missed...  Panel, am I...

I couldn't see how Board Staff No. 2 responded to GEC No. 3.  Could you help me with that?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. FARMER:  I believe what we're referring to is in the response to Board Staff Exhibit I, I think, tab 1, schedule 2, and page 2 is where the responses start.

Part (a):
"In 2010 the OPA developed advice that it provided to the Ministry of Energy on an ongoing basis during the development of the Long-Term Energy Plan."

And the work that's described there is the report that I believe is referred to in GEC 3, I believe you said.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And at Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, page 9 of 10, I'll read the sentence that GEC was referring to:
"In 2010 the OPA developed a planning report that describes the status and outlook for electricity demand, conservation, generation and transmission which will form the basis for the formal consultation process for the IPSP."

First of all, that report has not been produced in this proceeding, has it?

MR. FARMER:  That is correct.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And GEC asked for it to be produced, and the answer was what you've just taken us through, which doesn't produce it and doesn't say, No, we aren't going to produce it.

Is the OPA objecting to producing that report?

MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, perhaps I can take a crack at this to begin with.  Mr. Farmer can correct me anywhere I go wrong in attempting to respond to what Mr. DeRose has raised.

The OPA is objecting to produce what Mr. DeRose is asking for, if I properly understand the question.  In the issues list for this proceeding, the Board did set out a number of issues that are fairly similar for the different strategic objectives.

There certainly is, in respect of the different strategic objectives, an issue about whether the OPA's evidence reflects the tasks that the OPA is charged with by statute and directives in 2011.

So the Board certainly has, in respect of power system planning, for example, specified an issue as to whether the OPA's work reflects what it's charged with by statute and directives.

However, Mr. Chair, in my submission, what governs that is the statute and the directives.  The OPA has received a directive from the Minister with respect to the Integrated Power System Plan and the Long-Term Energy Plan.  It is that that governs.

My understanding is that what is sought is some advice that was provided to the government in advance of the government issuing that directive.

My first point is it's not relevant to know what that advice was when we have the actual directive.  What is relevant for this proceeding is what the government said in the directive and what the OPA is planning in 2011 to meet the directive.  It's not relevant to go back behind the directive.

Second, it's my understanding that that is very confidential information from the point of view of the government.  I can't speak for the government and I don't know the details around it, but I know that there is a serious confidentiality concern.

My third point is related to the first point, which is that it is a government document.  The advice came from the OPA.  To the extent that it's in a document, it's government material.  The request should be put to the government if there's a request for disclosure of that.  To the extent that it's available under freedom of information provisions or otherwise, it should be -- that availability should be determined in accordance with that process.

The availability of such a government document, particularly a confidential one, should not be addressed through a proceeding like this.

Again, I'll leave it to Mr. Farmer if I've misstated anything, but those are really the three reasons why the OPA objects to this request.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Farmer, do you adopt your counsel's description?

MR. FARMER:  Most certainly.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  If I could just point out, Mr. Chair, that if you turn to Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, page 9 of 10, I think it's useful to see the context that this has been raised by the OPA itself.  I'm sorry, it's Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, page 9 of 10.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And your reference is beginning at line 7, Mr. DeRose?

MR. DeROSE:  Correct.  So, first of all, it's under -- and I think we have to look at what is the context of this evidence.

This is the 2010 results.  This is the evidence that the OPA is providing to the Board to show what it did in 2010 to meet its milestones.  If you'll recall in the last hearing, the Board gave the OPA direction to come back with this type of evidence.

Under the heading, "A planning outlook has been provided to stakeholders", well, just stopping there for a second, I don't think it's been provided to stakeholders unless the only stakeholder is the government.  So that's point number 1, but --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Can we stop right there?  And is that in fact the case, Mr. Farmer?  The report that's referenced there, was it -- was the only recipient of that report the government?

MR. FARMER:  The only recipient of that report, beside our own board of directors, was the government, and, for clarity, I believe -- and I regrettably we do not have the 2010 filing or business plan in front of us, but we're trying to respond to the milestones that we laid out in that previous filing.

And so I believe the milestone was that we would provide a planning report to stakeholders, which was indeed our intent going into 2010.

As the developments became more clear, in that the government intended to develop a Long-Term Energy Plan and issue an energy Supply Mix Directive, we did not make that public.  We provided that advice to the government.

So we're not in the title trying to say that we provided a planning report outlook.  We're trying to report on the milestone that we had established, and then in the text we describe what we did.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Sorry, Mr. DeRose.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Well, I guess just as a side note to that last comment, I think to be fair, if it was intended to respond to the milestone, it should say, We failed in this milestone, because we have not provided it to any stakeholders.  It's not in the evidence.

Instead the evidence reads, "In 2010 the OPA developed a planning report", and it goes on and it describes what the report says.

So our submission is that the OPA has made reference to the document in its evidence; is relying on the existence of the document in its evidence, in part, to demonstrate to the Board that it has met its milestones.  It is seeking approval from this Board that it has met its milestones.  And if you don't have that report, how can you determine whether it has or has not met its milestones or the extent to which it has met its milestones?

So on that, I raise that, unless, I guess -- the flip side of it is that -- unless the OPA is explicitly saying we haven't met our milestone and we want you to find that we haven't met our milestone.

But the normal course is that where a document is referred to in evidence, it's producible.  If it's confidential, it can be dealt with with a confidentiality order, but that's certainly our concern, was it's right in the evidence, it's making representations about what it is, and I would submit that we are entitled to review it.

And certainly you should be reviewing it, because you're being asked to make a determination on the achievement of milestones.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just before you respond, Mr. Cass, I was going to suggest, Mr. Poch, this originated with your interrogatory.

And do you have -- I note that you didn't request a supplementary answer, but do you have a comment with respect to this subject?

MR. POCH:  Well, in fact, I did follow up with a note to OPA, and received a letter back from Mr. Cass saying that they refuse.

I chose not to file a motion at that time, although I am in complete agreement with Mr. DeRose.  I would have thought a planning outlook being provided to stakeholders meant just that, first of all, and second of all, it would seem to me this was a basic part of the OPA's job.

It's not unreasonable for the Board and the parties to be able to review that.  And I agree, if it is, as Mr. Cass has asserted, something where there's concerns about confidentiality, the Board has procedures for that and we're happy to respect those procedures.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Cass?

MR. CASS:  Yes.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I don't need to repeat the arguments I've already made, I just wanted to respond to what's been said about this milestone.

Of course the OPA does set milestones as it goes into each particular year, and it does report to the Board on the milestones.

In my submission, that doesn't mean for a minute that when a particular milestone has been established, that the OPA has to come to the Board at the end of the year in each and every instance and say:  Yes, we did absolutely what the milestone said.

Circumstances change.  Circumstances did change in respect of this milestone.  The OPA proceeded in the manner that I described, to provide advice to the Ministry that formed the basis for a Supply Mix Directive.  The Ministry treats that as very confidential.

And in these circumstances, the OPA can only report on the milestone in the manner that it has.  It did the planning outlook.  No, it did not provide it to stakeholders.

The OPA is not specifically requesting from the Board any approval that each and every milestone has always been met.  The OPA is simply reporting on what has happened with its milestones.  And in this connection, circumstances changed, such that the OPA proceeded in the way that I described.

And again, three objections are relevance, confidentiality, and if there's a desire for this document, the request should be made through the Ministry, through the government, not through this proceeding.

Thank you, Mr. Chair.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  There were submissions made, Mr. Cass, with respect to the Board's confidentiality process, and perhaps its relevance to this issue.

MR. CASS:  Yes.  I'm --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Do you have any specific comment about that?

MR. CASS:  Yes.  All I can say, Mr. Chair, is I'm at a disadvantage, because it's not so much the OPA's confidentiality concern, it's the government's confidentiality concern.

I'm not in a position to say whether the government would be -- what concerns the government would have in relation to production of the -- of this information -- I call it a document; I assume it is -- production of this information in the context of the Board's confidentiality procedure.

I can't speak for whether the government would feel that that's adequate protection for its confidentiality concerns.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  So I take it, Mr. DeRose -- sorry, you --


MR. DeROSE:  I was just going to say on this one point, I think we have to be very clear that this is not a government document.  This is an OPA-created document.  And so when we talk about where confidentiality arises, this is not -- we have in previous cases had situations where the utility receives a document that has proprietary, confidential -- that is confidential and has proprietary value from the person that produces the report, that is not the utility.  That's not the situation we have here.

This is an OPA-created document.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.  I take it that you are making a specific request.  I don't think that actually appears on the record, that you are making a specific request for production.

MR. DeROSE:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The Board will defer on this subject.  We may come back to it.  We may seek further submissions with respect to this before we're through.

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. DeROSE:  Two last discrete points, and then you're finished with me.

If I can have you turn to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 19, which, just as you're pulling it up, I'll give you the context for it.

There are some questions about the negotiations between the OPA and the Korean consortium, and -- sorry, Mr. Farmer, do you have it?  I'll let you pull it up.  Okay.

And my question really is on (b), and the question was:

"How will the OPA consider and achieve value for money for ratepayers during these negotiations?"

And the answer, if you turn the page to page 2 of 2, I would summarize as this:  That value for money is considered and achieved by ensuring that the costs of the project are paid, plus a reasonable return on investment.

Is that -- is that a fair summary of the answer?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I'm sorry to interrupt you, Mr. DeRose, but I've lost your reference.

MR. DeROSE:  Oh, I'm sorry.  It's Board Staff Interrogatory No. 19.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. DeROSE:  It's Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 19.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thanks very much.

MR. DeROSE:  Sorry, I should have –-

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Please proceed.

MR. DeROSE:  I should have ensured that you were on the right page.

And you'll see (b), Mr. Chair; the question is asking how the OPA considers and achieves value for money for ratepayers.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. DeROSE:  And if you go to the bottom, (b), the answer refers to the Ministerial directive, which -- just stopping there, can we agree that the Ministerial directive does not directly address value for money?  Or do you consider it to address value for money?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  The question specifically includes that provisions should be substantially similar to those provided for under the FIT contract and the FIT program rules.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And so you consider, because you incorporate the FIT program, you automatically have value for money?

Is that the assumption that you're making?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  I'm saying that the directive specifically references FIT with respect to contract.  And the FIT program references cost of the generation plus a reasonable return.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  In the course of those negotiations -- let me put it this way -- does the OPA consider value for money for ratepayers?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  We consider value for money with respect to the overriding principles of the FIT program which it's based on, which is the cost of building and operating the facility and allowing a reasonable return, similar to what we would for a FIT program applicant.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And so that is the extent of your assessment of value for money, is to cover the cost plus a reasonable return on investment?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  That was the directive, to comply with alignment with FIT, and we will execute that.

MR. DeROSE:  So I take it that's a "yes"?  That's the extent of your consideration?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  It also includes that we have to factor in the provisions of the agreement that the government has signed.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Thank you.

And then can we go to Board Staff 27, which is Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 27?

This is on the general efficiency metrics, but again on value for money, (c):

"Does the OPA consider that the efficiency metrics provide an indication of whether the OPA achieved value for money for ratepayers in the performance areas tracked?"

And your answer is that:

"Value for money is assessed through specific audits performed at the program level."

First of all, have any of these type of audits taken place to date?

MR. GABRIELE:  Can I ask you to clarify which programs you're specifically interested in?

MR. DeROSE:  Well, the question was broadly based and you provided the answer.  I don't know what programs you were considering when the answer was provided, but let me start it broad based.

Have any audits been undertaken in this context to assess value for money in any program in the OPA?

MR. GABRIELE:  There have been no audits on efficiency metrics that I'm aware of.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And so this answer is talking about something that is planned for the future; is that fair?

MR. GABRIELE:  Correct.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Do you expect that audits will take place in 2011?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. GABRIELE:  We are working on some specific programs in electricity resources.  Work is under way.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And who conducts those audits?  Is it internal auditors or external auditors?

MR. GABRIELE:  The audits are conducted by external service providers.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And who decides which programs are audited?

MR. GABRIELE:  We do an analysis of all of the initiatives and we assess them based on levels of risk that we consider in the programs, and then from that we prioritize and set up an audit program.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And so when you say "we", is it the OPA itself identifies which programs should be audited?

MR. GABRIELE:  That is correct.

MR. DeROSE:  And then retains external auditors to conduct the audit?

MR. GABRIELE:  Correct.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And do you know if a decision has been made whether these audit results will be made public as part of the Board process in the future?  Is that something that you will be reporting back to the Board on?  Has that been determined?

MR. GABRIELE:  That hasn't been determined, to my knowledge.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And if those audit results are not made public, are there any other ways in which the OPA assesses whether value for money for ratepayers is achieved through efficiency metrics?

MR. FARMER:  Sorry, Mr. DeRose, could you repeat the question again, please?

MR. DeROSE:  Well, the question was:  Does the OPA consider that the efficiency metrics provide an indication of whether the OPA achieved value for money for ratepayers in the performance tracked?  The answer is:
"Value for money will be assessed through specific audits performed."

My question is:  If you don't make the audits public, is there anything other than audits that you use to assess or determine value for money, or is that it?

MR. GABRIELE:  The analysis of and review of OPA operational effectiveness would be something handled by the senior management and executive or board members of the OPA.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And do they prepare any type of written analysis or report of their conclusions?

MR. GABRIELE:  There's none that I'm aware of.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And would that have been conducted for 2010?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. GABRIELE:  So the process of developing metrics started in 2010.

MR. DeROSE:  Right.

MR. GABRIELE:  So that would be the extent that I'm aware of.

MR. DeROSE:  So they've been developed, but not implemented?

MR. GABRIELE:  I would say, to my knowledge -- or I would say that I'm not aware of whether they were implemented in 2010.  They were developed in 2010.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Perhaps we could have an undertaking for this, is to confirm whether the metrics that have been developed in 2010 were implemented in 2010; if so, when; and when were they implemented, so were they first quarter, second quarter, third quarter, fourth quarter; and has there been any assessment of those metrics, and, if so, if could we receive a summary of those, if there has been an assessment?

And if Mr. Cass agrees to that, that will be my last question.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's an inducement, Mr. Cass.

MR. CASS:  Yes, the OPA can give that undertaking, Mr. Chair.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  J1.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  TO CONFIRM WHETHER THE METRICS DEVELOPED IN 2010 WERE IMPLEMENTED IN 2010, and IF SO, WHEN; AND HAS THERE BEEN ANY ASSESSMENT OF THOSE METRICS, AND, IF SO, TO PROVIDE A SUMMARY OF ASSESSMENT.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.

I appreciate, panel, your co-operation.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We'll take a break now.  We'll stand adjourned until 11:15.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 11:00 a.m.


--- On resuming at 11:19 a.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Please be seated.

Mr. Brett, do I understand that -- oh, I beg your pardon.  Ms. Brant?  Please proceed.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Brant:

MS. BRANT:  Thank you, OEB Members, and thank you to the panel.  I'm here on behalf of the Ontario Sustainable Energy Association.

And what we are going to do is refer you to the FIT program and the rollout of the FIT program.  I'm also going to talk about some of the issues and barriers.  And then finally, I have a quick question on the external resources.

Some of the questions that we had intended to pose today have already been asked by our earlier intervenor, and so I hope that I will be on time and keep us on schedule today.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I'm going to make sure of it.

MS. BRANT:  Thank you.

[Laughter]


MS. BRANT:  Okay.  If you could turn you to the Exhibit B, tab 2, this is the 2010 registration fees, operating costs and capital expenditures; specifically to page 3.

There is a table 1 that talks -- or that shows the spending change year-over-year, 2011 versus 2010.

MR. FARMER:  Sorry, can I just clarify, is that Exhibit D, tab 2, schedule 2, page 3?

MS. BRANT:  Schedule 1, page 3.

MR. FARMER:  Schedule 1?  Thank you.

MS. BRANT:  Okay.  So this is a table that shows the year-over-year spending, and I thought it would be an illustration for us to look at quickly.

Can you confirm in this chart the registration fees and interest income that is expected to come from procurements this year, that are shown in the table?

MR. GABRIELE:  So the registration fee income is $400,000.

MS. BRANT:  So that is for the 2010, and I'm asking you for the 2011.

MR. GABRIELE:  It's the -- oh, I see.

[Witness panel confers]


MR. GABRIELE:  Sorry, on Exhibit D, tab 2, schedule 1, the numbers are in -- on line -- there's $375,000 in registration fees for 2010.

MS. BRANT:  If I could turn you to the table, table 1, there is an indicator in green on the far right-hand side of the table, which shows what the expected revenue is for the 2011 registration fee and interest income?

MR. GABRIELE:  Yes.

MS. BRANT:  Do you confirm that that says $2 million?

MR. GABRIELE:  Sorry, that green bar shows the change, and so that's the increase of $2 million year-over-year.

That increase drops the revenue requirement by $2 million.

MS. BRANT:  Right.  And so -- but that amount is $2 million of revenue that the OPA will receive from registration fees and income; correct?

MR. GABRIELE:  And any interest income, yes.

MS. BRANT:  Okay.  And that amount is based primarily, this year, on the FIT program procurement?

MR. GABRIELE:  Those registration fees primarily come from FIT.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just as a matter of clarification, I think you -– I think the answer is it's $2.4 million in registration fees for 2011.  It's -- $2 million is the change?

MR. GABRIELE:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The 400,000 remains.  So it's 2.4 million is the amount from registration fees for 2011; is that right?

MR. GABRIELE:  It's 1.4 million of registration fee income, and 600,000 of...

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It's the difference, is the point that I'm getting at, just so that we're clear on the record.

Have I got that right, Mr. Gabriele?

MR. GABRIELE:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MS. BRANT:  Okay.  And would you confirm that this is the only revenue source that the OPA has in its operating - in carrying out its activities?

MR. GABRIELE:  Interest income and non-refundable application fees?  Yes.

MS. BRANT:  Okay.

MR. GABRIELE:  Other than the Board-approved rate.

MS. BRANT:  Right.  And of this amount, do any of the -- of this amount, are any funds being received for competitive procurements within this amount?  Or have we already established that the amount is just based on the FIT program application fees?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. GABRIELE:  Sorry, the application fee revenue is for all procurements.  So we have CESOP, RESOP, FIT, microFIT.

MS. BRANT:  And do they include any competitive procurements, then?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  If we had any competitive procurements, that would be included in the fees.  We anticipate that most of the procurement activity for this year will be on standard programs.

MS. BRANT:  And I have one more question.

On the same table, there is an amount that's set out for the Green Energy investment agreement.  Does that table say that the cost for -- that's been allocated in the budget this year is $600,000 to perform or to carry out the Green Energy investment agreement?

MR. GABRIELE:  That is correct.

MS. BRANT:  Could you explain what you expect that amount to be allocated on?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  Yes.  So for the Green Energy implementation agreement, that would be both internal OPA staff time as well as professional and consulting fees regarding the negotiations of that agreement.

MS. BRANT:  Thank you.

And I see here in the same table that for the FIT program -- it says FIT and GEA funds -- a similar amount of $600,000 appears to be in the budget for this year; is that correct?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  Yes.  So there are funds allocated for the Aboriginal community and municipal fund administration and management under the FIT program.

So that's what that corresponds to.

MS. BRANT:  So does this $600,000 not account for any operation expenses or carrying out the activities of the FIT program?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  I believe this piece is related specifically to the funds and the allocation of the funds, as opposed to the general FIT program, which is handled through the procurement department, primarily through internal staffing.

MS. BRANT:  Okay.  So for clarification, then, I think going to the CME's interrogatory.  I actually noted that it has the table that will be helpful to show the number I'm looking for.

In the CME interrogatory Exhibit I, tab 11, schedule 1, on page 4, it's a similar table that was referred to this morning.  What I wanted to do was then clarify:  Does this say, then, that the budget for the renewable activity, so the FIT program, will be $473,057 for 2011?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  I'm looking at, I believe, the table you're referencing to.  Can you just point me to which -- I didn't see that number in the cells, I'm sorry.

MS. BRANT:  Sure.  At the very bottom, you will see the 2011 budget.  The third row from the bottom, there's a line item that says "renewables" -- or "renewable", rather, and it shows an amount, as I said, 473,057 for 2011.  Is that the budget amount for operations for renewable?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  So the table that's presented here includes both internal resources and external resources, and this is for the entire electricity resources group.

So these funds would be related to procurement initiatives, managing the procurement side.  It would also be responsible for the contract management of existing contracts in there and any other program refinements going forward.  So I believe that's a roll-up for monies related to various -- or certain technology.

MS. BRANT:  Okay.  So we can see, then, that the cost for running the FIT program, if I can take that to mean what you just said, is this amount here, the 473,057, and that by comparison the amount to implement the Green Energy Act investment agreement is 600,000?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  I'd like to clarify renewables would also include hydroelectric generation, as well.

MS. BRANT:  But could you answer the question, Shawn?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  I'm sorry, can you just rephrase that, because I wanted to make that clear, that renewables -- although FIT is a significant portion of it, any renewable could also include other non-FIT or hydroelectric, as well.  So I wanted to make sure that was clear, similar to your other point.

MS. BRANT:  So I'll just repeat the question.  What I wanted to know is, then, can we see from the information brought forward that the amount to operate the green energy investment agreement is going to be 600,000 versus the amount to carry out the renewable objectives for the year will be 472, as I said, and 057?  Will it be less to carry out the renewable programs this year than it will be to carry out the Samsung agreement?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. GABRIELE:  Due to the way we put together budgets, I don't think we can say clearly that it's 473 for renewables and six for -- for the other project.  We have internal staff allocations, and we have general cross-functional allocations that are not made.  So to derive that conclusion, I think it would be inappropriate.

But those are the amounts for the renewable in program spending and the amount for the -- whatever that item is defined as.

MS. BRANT:  So if we were to compare the program spending, it is going to cost more to implement the green energy investment agreement than it will to carry out the renewable objectives?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  I think both of those initiatives are an important part of what we do in electricity resources.  In the case of the green energy implementation agreement, it corresponds approximately 2,500 megawatts.  So at least on a megawatt basis, it's a very big percentage of what we're doing.

So we have to make sure that we allocate sufficient funds to make sure that we're doing the best -- the best job we can on that program.

MS. BRANT:  Do you propose to receive any registration fees or interest income through those procurements under the green energy investment?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  The procurement under the green energy investment agreement is a negotiation, and I would not anticipate receiving a registration fee in a negotiation-type agreement.

MS. BRANT:  Okay, thank you.

MR. CASS:  Pardon me, Mr. Chair.  I hesitate to get involved because, of course, it's not for me to give evidence, but I hate to see this subject left without more clarity around what's presented in the table that we were just looking at.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Perhaps a situation for re-direct?

MR. CASS:  Potentially.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MS. BRANT:  I have one more question on the table 1, and then I'm going to move on.

One other thing that I note here is there doesn't seem to be any allocation in the budget for any revenue that could be received this year from the environmental attributes from the FIT program; is that correct?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  At this point, the OPA doesn't have clear policy direction with respect to monetizing those attributes, so we would not factor in for our budget monetizing those at this point.

MS. BRANT:  So are you waiting for a provincial or federal greenhouse gas regulation to be implemented prior to forecasting a budget for that type of revenue?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  What the Ontario Power Authority is doing is we are holding those credits on behalf of Ontarians until such time as a framework exists, such that we know what their value is.  So the OPA would not anticipate monetizing those at this point until we know what they're actually going to be worth.

So we haven't factored it in.  We continue to monitor the progress of those initiatives, but we don't anticipate monetizing them in this document.

MS. BRANT:  Okay, thank you.

I had one more question based on the program flowchart that I have located on the OPA's website.  I provided copies to Board Staff to hand out.  I don't know if copies have been made available to the panel and to the Board.

MR. MILLAR:  We do have copies here, but I believe we're the only ones currently in possession of the document.  So I will mark it as an exhibit and we will hand it out.  This is the program flowchart from the OPA.  It will be Exhibit K1.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  PROGRAM FLOWCHART FROM THE OPA.

MR. MILLAR:  Does the witness panel have copies?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  I was handed a copy just at the end of the intermission, so I have one in front of me.

MR. MILLAR:  We'll bring out some extras.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Do you have any issues, Mr. Cass?

MR. CASS:  No, sir.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MS. BRANT:  Thank you.  Okay --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I'll need a magnifying glass to -- just kidding.

MS. BRANT:  I do apologize.  I'm not going to go through this in great detail, but I did want to show you the flowchart, because it is from the OPA website.

What it says here is that the diagram summarizes the key steps in the FIT program.  Panel, if I could take you to what I've numbered as 5 in the steps in the document, step 5 says:

"OPA conducts connection availability assessment."

There's also some wording in italics that's over to the right that says:

"Projects will be assessed within 60 days of complete application."

What my question is -- is clearly that wasn't able to be adhered to in the launch period.  I think we know that the FIT program was announced in March and April of 2010.  Do you propose to adhere to this turnaround time going forward?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  The OPA set these timeline objectives prior to the program being launched, and it was our expectation that that's what we would strive to meet.

What has happened is we have received an overwhelming volume of applications, and with respect to the timelines here, we've not been able to follow those.

We certainly strive to meet them; in some instances, we've been able to meet some.  But due to the volume we've received, we haven't been able to meet all of those timelines.

However, it is something that we continually strive to work forward on and improving.

MS. BRANT:  So in terms of your planning for 2011, have you proposed any additional staffing or other resources that could address the timeline so that you could meet this target?  Or have you changed the application process and you've decided that the 60 days is not sufficient going forward?  Or is not, I guess, practical going forward?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  So the OPA did examine our staffing levels in terms of processing applications, and we did that from the beginning of program launch, all the way through the program to date.

So we've continually been monitoring our staffing levels, and trying to align an adequate number of resources to manage the influx.  In some cases, we've been able to reduce those processing times, and in others we haven't been able to improve those.

But we do -- we do still strive to meet somewhat aggressive targets, and we don't want to revise those to another number if it means that we wouldn't try to strive to meet the higher number.

So even though in some instances to date we haven't been able to -- I think microFIT is a good example, where since program launch, there had been some higher turnaround times, and we've certainly worked very hard lately to reduce those.  And I think the numbers are certainly coming down on those.

So it hasn't been perfect, but we've been striving to make improvements.

MS. BRANT:  So from what I can see on the second launch, which took place on February 24th of 2011, again, what we could see is that there's a six-month turnaround.

Is that going to be the standard going forward?  Is that how you've budgeted going forward?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  I don't think I'd assume that that's a standard.  What we found was that in the launch period, we had an incredible amount come in during launch, which caused us to have to process those.

I think we were fully expecting that post-launch, the application volume would reduce somewhat, and we found that the application volume actually maintained at its -- at the same level as launch during the second phase.  So that was a little surprising.

And again, it's been a case of trying to work through some of that backlog.

MS. BRANT:  Thank you.

Now, if you move down to number 6, this talks about the FIT contract, and it's setting out the key steps in the program.  One that I note here, which says:

"Does the project pass an economic connection test?"

Would you consider that one of the milestones in the FIT program, establishing the ECT, the economic connection test?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  The economic connection test is certainly one piece to have the process, but as you've outlined here on the sheet you've provided, there's many steps along the way.

So the predecessors must complete before we can go to the successor activity.  It's certainly an important piece of the process.

MS. BRANT:  And I note just below, again, it sets another target for the economic connection test to run every six months.

Has the economic connection test run since the launch of the FIT program?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  No, the economic connection test has not yet been run since the launch of the FIT program.

MS. BRANT:  And so do you propose to make any changes in your budget so that you can adhere to this program flowchart and meet the six-month turnaround?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  With respect to the economic connection test to which you refer, that process would be handled internally by internal OPA resources, so those are resources that are engaged in not only the FIT program, but other activities.

So the fact that there has been a shift in the timeline wouldn't affect the resources required or their availability to perform the test.

MS. BRANT:  So what you're saying is that the fact that the ECT test has not been performed doesn't relate to the amount of people within the OPA staff?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  The actual process of performing the test will be done by OPA staff, so actually performing the test wouldn't change.

What's happened is the events preceding the ECT have taken longer.  So it isn't the duration of the ECT, but in essence, it's pushed the start of the ECT out further.

MS. BRANT:  Okay.  Now, I have one final question.

The evidence talks about an additional 850 megawatts of procurement taking place for 2011.  I also note that there is the recent February 24th announcement of 872 megawatts.

Is it, then, the case that there will not be any other procurements for the remainder of the year?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  No, that's not correct.  The contract awards which you are referring to in February, the 872 megawatts, that was a result of the Phase II TAT and DAT analysis.

And we had anticipated that that would have been done in the later part of 2010, so that does not count towards that number.  That was anticipated to have been done in 2010, and instead it happened in February of 2011.

MS. BRANT:  So the 850 megawatts that you -- that is set out in the evidence still remains to be procured for 2011?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  That is correct, and it's not related to the 872 that you mentioned earlier.

MS. BRANT:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  Thank you for your time.  Those are all of my questions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Ms. Brant.

Mr. Brett?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Brett:

MR. BRETT:  Good morning, panel.  My name is Tom Brett.  I'm representing the Canadian Energy Efficiency Alliance.

My first questions are for you, Mr. Farmer.  And I notice here that, looking at your curriculum vitae, that you are now -- you have a new job, or a relatively new job, director, planning policy and approvals.

That started January 1st; is that right?

MR. FARMER:  That is correct.

MR. BRETT:  And what, broadly speaking, what does that job entail?  What do you do?

MR. FARMER:  Most of my effort initially is on coordinating the submission of the next IPSP.  I also represent power system planning in forums such as these, and will be looking for other opportunities to streamline planning as we go.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And prior to that, prior to January of 2011, you were director of conservation -- well, sorry, if I go back to your current position for a moment, what resources do you have at your disposal?  How many people --positions do you have reporting to you at the moment?

MR. FARMER:  On the org chart, I have one direct report, who is on a secondment with me until August.

It's important to stress that in power system planning, where we have approximately 41 people, I work with all of those people.  It is more of a matrix-based organization.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. FARMER:  And so it depends on who is leading the project and which resources contribute.

I work also with people from the conservation groups, the electricity resource groups.

So it's not -- I don't have a hierarchical organization.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  So you don't, yourself, have a list of positions that are directly in your group as such?

MR. FARMER:  I do not.

MR. BRETT:  The others -- now, in your previous job, you were director of conservation integration, and there's now another gentleman in that job.

You were in that job for a couple of years, it looks like.  Now, what did you do in that job?  What was your prime responsibility there?

MR. FARMER:  The role of conservation integration is the role that produces the net demand forecast to be used in planning.  So net demand forecast to be used in planning.  So net demand forecasts require that we assess the demand for electricity under various scenarios and that we integrate the conservation that we expect to occur into the forecast to develop the amount of electricity that is required.

MR. BRETT:  And so that's the locus of -- that's the group that you previously headed up was the group that produced the load forecast; is that correct?

MR. FARMER:  That is correct.

MR. BRETT:  And what resources did you have in that group to help you?

MR. FARMER:  Oh, I should stress that group actually is the group that also does some other work around costs, which explains where some of the resources are.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. FARMER:  But I believe there were two senior planners reporting to that role.  There were a number of planners and analysts, perhaps at the time about seven, if I recall correctly.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And any estimates of what your operating budget would have been, guesstimates, I guess?

MR. FARMER:  With a moment, I could turn up what it is forecast this year, and I don't believe it's changed.

MR. BRETT:  All right.

MR. FARMER:  All I need is Terry to help me.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Brett, we'll look to take our break at around 12:30 today.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Would you try to accommodate that in your questioning?

MR. BRETT:  Yes, I'll make a break.  Yes, I can, sure.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. FARMER:  We're having difficulty finding it.  I do recall that an interrogatory response or perhaps a piece of evidence did have power system planning consulting budgets broken out by the key areas, and those budgets would be relatively stable last year to this week.  If that's helpful, we could undertake --


MR. BRETT:  That is the third party consulting.  What about the internal staff?  You say you had something like a total staff of about ten.  What would that budget have been, roughly?

MR. FARMER:  I do not know.  In power system planning, all staff budgets are held by the vice-president.

MR. BRETT:  Oh, I see.  So we'd have to figure that out from an average salary and so on, okay.

And then before that, you were working with the conservation division; correct?  You spent a couple of years as director, portfolio planning and development conservation, so you were on sort of the line side of the business at that point?

MR. FARMER:  That is correct.

MR. BRETT:  And were you responsible for all of the conservation programs or a portion of them?

MR. FARMER:  No, my role in portfolio development was to manage the mix of the portfolio of programs, so it wasn't the line accountability for program development.  It was the planning of conservation programs, the reporting of conservation results.  I did briefly, although I don't think it actually is on the CV, have a role in business delivery that was very much a line role, but that was a very brief period before the transition to the portfolio in the reorg.

MR. BRETT:  And in that capacity, that was how you started, as I see it here, with the OPA in 2006.  So you're one of the veterans.  In that capacity, what resources would you have had available to you in terms of people?

MR. FARMER:  I really don't recall.  It was in 2006, 2007.  There may -- I know there was a manager.  There were some analysts.

MR. BRETT:  Five or six, perhaps?  Five or six?

MR. FARMER:  Perhaps.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And before that, of course, you were with Union Gas, so you're someone who has spent their life pretty much in the energy sector.  You were at Union Gas for a number of years, and I see you were director, demand side management.  So at that point, you would have been, laterally, 2005-2006 -- you would have been responsible for Union Gas, as putting together Union Gas's demand side management plan; is that right?

MR. FARMER:  I was -- actually, the full title was director, demand side management and market knowledge.  And my accountabilities were things such as load forecasting, technology development, market research.  And in demand side management, I was not in charge of program development.  That was held by the channel group at the time.

I hesitate to talk too much about the organization of Union Gas, because they're not represented here.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. FARMER:  But my accountabilities in that field were more aligned with the portfolio work that I did at the OPA and, similarly, the regulatory processes.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Now, if I could ask you to turn -- there are two documents I'm going refer to.  You may want to have these in front of you, Mr. Farmer.  The first is Alliance Interrogatory No. 2, and that's a question that the Alliance asked.  That's Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1.  It's actually B -- sorry, tab 7.  It's Exhibit I, tab 7, schedule 2, the Alliance's second question.  Do you have that?

MR. FARMER:  I do.

MR. BRETT:  And the second piece you should have is in page 3 of your evidence.  That's tab B, schedule 1, tab 1, page 1 -- page 3, lines 3 to 5.  That's in your evidence in-chief.  So that would be the evidence in which you discuss the first strategic objective, the power system planning objective.

And my questions are going to go mainly to the integration of conservation into power system planning, my first set of questions.

So the question that we asked you in Alliance 2 was:
"Please explain the differences between a load forecast scenario that integrates conservation and one that does not.  Is this different from the approach used for the 1st IPSP?"


And a -- load forecast scenario.  And you see your answer there, you say:
"A load forecast scenario that integrates conservation is one that reflects not only naturally occurring conservation, but also projected electricity savings from conservation measures such as codes and standards, conservation programs and other conservation activities."


And in the piece in the evidence that I want you to refer to, you state, lines 3 to 5:

"The power system planning division will use the load forecast scenarios and conservation potential estimates to provide context for the development of the second IPSP, as well as to support long-term conservation plans and enhance planning and implementation of conservation programs."

Do you see that?

MR. FARMER:  I do.

MR. BRETT:  Now, how do you define "naturally occurring conservation"?

MR. FARMER:  Naturally occurring conservation is efficiency that's occurring in the market as a result of actions that are other than conservation programs, policies or decisions.  So the forecast, for example, which we put together was based in 2004, and the conservation directive requests that we consider actions that occur since 2005, whether they be government decision, programs or other mechanisms.

Within the forecast is a natural trend of adoption of efficiency, and it's a little easier to see it maybe in a gas example.  It may be a little more familiar.  But there was definitely a trend towards high-efficiency furnaces within the gas industry.  Customers were adopting those for their own reasons.

And perhaps an even better one would be the mandate of the mid-efficient furnace by government before the program started up was another way that loads started to decline.

So on the electricity side, there were certainly trends that were observed within the load forecast.  It's an end-use forecast that looks at the uses for electricity very specifically at the user level, so lighting, motors, heating, cooling.

There were trends at play before the start of the conservation period as laid out in the directive, and those are picked up as naturally occurring conservation.

MR. BRETT:  And I suppose you would agree, then, in your example from the gas industry of the high-efficiency furnaces and the mid-efficiency furnaces, that what may have started that trend, in part, would have been government actions in the standards area to specify minimum efficiencies for furnaces.  That would have assisted in that trend, the creation of that trend?

MR. FARMER:  The mid-efficient standard, I don't remember which year that occurred, but the mid-efficient standard came in and that was the least -- the standard for a furnace that could be purchased.  And I believe the high-efficient furnace, which was promoted very well by gas companies for years, then moved to being the new standard I believe in the last year or 18 months.

MR. BRETT:  So you could say, in a way, that the naturally occurring conservation was -- had a number of forces contributing to its happening, including government activity and utility promotional activity, because I do recall the utilities promoting those efficiency furnaces.

MR. FARMER:  Well, and indeed they did, and indeed governments played a role.  And that's -- generally conservation is a combination of actions.  And I don't want to get too far into how programs are designed, as that is the territory of the conservation panel that you will see later.

I think the key element to naturally occurring conservation to recall is that the directive asked us to consider actions that were after 2005, and those included actions by government, they include rate structures, and they include program spending, and they include program savings by other parties as well.

And it is the attempt to pick up what's going on from actions pre-2005, is what the naturally occurring conservation is trying to do.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  And just for clarity there -- that's helpful, but just for clarity, when you say "the directive" and you say "2005" you're talking about the directive with respect to the second-phase IPSP?  Is that the directive you're speaking of?

MR. FARMER:  I'm actually referring to the original directive that was issued for the first IPSP.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. FARMER:  Which gave a definition.

And the second directive that was issued, I believe February 17th of this year, as I recall, reaffirmed the 2005 baseline for conservation savings.

MR. BRETT:  Right.  I understand that part.

But when you say events that took place prior to 2005, these were events that were -- this formulation or these words were used in the first directive that came out, the directive that came out in 2005?  Is that what you're saying?  Or in 2006?

MR. FARMER:  I believe it was September 17th of 2006, perhaps?  It was around that time.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Now, you mention -- well, let me ask -- you mention load forecasts.  How often do you prepare a load forecast?

MR. FARMER:  Similar to earlier discussions on integrated planning, the load forecast is a key part of integrated planning, and so it is prepared as often as things change, and as often as the changes are likely to be material.

So I cannot say that it is an annual event.  I cannot say that it is a bi-annual or every three years.  It is done as conditions change.

And similarly, we don't just prepare a static single load forecast.  We are now trying to prepare scenarios which are a little more reflective of what the future is likely to be.

MR. BRETT:  I'll go back to the scenarios in a moment, but just in terms of the timing, is it normal, is it the case that you've prepared one, generally, every year?

MR. FARMER:  We have certainly updated our outlooks on about an annual basis, yes.

MR. BRETT:  Right.  And those forecast, those load forecasts, you're forecasting the load over, what, a series of different time periods?  Do you have sort of a one-year chapter, a five-year chapter and a 20-year chapter?  Or how does that work?  What are the timeframes that you highlight in the load forecasts?

MR. FARMER:  We present a 20-year load forecast.  It does get presented typically as having annual loads.

MR. BRETT:  So year by year?

MR. FARMER:  With capacity and energy.  I think it is more useful to look at longer-term forecasts as trends, as opposed to guaranteeing that you'll be specifically right in a given year.  The economy is unpredictable, as are some behaviours and patterns.

MR. BRETT:  But the document itself, I think you're saying is -- it lays out the numbers each year up to 20 years?

MR. FARMER:  It does.

MR. BRETT:  And when you talk about -- well, let me -- when you talk about load forecast scenarios as you do in your evidence, what do you mean by that?  Do I take it that you mean a series of different load forecasts depending on different drivers, such as population, economic growth, stringency of government regulations, a host of other factors?  Is that you're getting at?

And roughly how many scenarios would you typically contemplate? Three, four, five?

MR. FARMER:  So far we have prepared three.  We're relatively new to full-scenario planning, and I don't pretend to believe that we've achieved full-scenario planning; we continue to develop that.

And by full-scenario planning, it would cascade not only through the demand, but also into the supply, as well, as you start to get into assumptions around inputs around fuel costs and things like that, that may affect customer choices but also affect cost of generation.

And so that's somewhere where we're seeking to improve and continue to put some resource.

But to your question of the demand forecast, we prepared three scenarios.  The way we prepared those was to think of three likely outcomes.  We describe basically three narratives, based around what we believe to be the primary variables in the demand, as we see it.  And so we created, in essence, what looks like a high, medium and low.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And this is the -- as you say, on the load side.

Now, my understanding is that other agencies -- and this was touched on earlier, but my understanding is that other agencies also do forecasting, other energy agencies.  I understand that OPG does some forecasting, Hydro One does some forecasting, the distributors may do some forecasting in some instances.

How do you -- do you do your own forecasts?  To what extent do you borrow from others' forecasts?  And do you attempt to reconcile forecasts among these various agencies that you deal with?  And how do you do that?

MR. FARMER:  A lot of questions in there, so I'll take them one at a time.

We have in-house forecasting capability.  Our first forecast in IPSP 1 was actually done externally.  And many of the assumptions that were derived for that forecast are still used in our forecasting today.  It was good work.

However, we have developed internal forecasting capability, and we continue to develop that capability, to be more ready to respond to changes in conditions or respond to policy advice requests.

So question number one was in-house.

I'm now going to get your questions out of order, but yes, definitely many agencies and LDCs and all sorts of people are involved in load forecasts, and they do load forecasts for the purposes that serve them, whether it's to set their rates over a shorter period of time, to plan their procurements, their acquisitions, how they're going to operate their fleets, what capacity they should plan to.

The IESO does an 18-month forecast, we know, to do reliability considerations.

So the reality is that people do their forecasts for their own purposes.  We have developed a forecast methodology and a forecast approach that serves our purpose, which is to look 20 years into the future, to assess the possible demand for electricity so that we may plan an electricity system to meet that.

The forecast also being an end-use forecast does assist in the planning of conservation programs, by identifying high potential uses and how programs may play out within that, so that is useful to us.

To your question of how do we cooperate with other agencies, we communicate with those agencies and we certainly share our forecasts as necessary.  And on occasion, we've had discussions around whether we understand input assumptions the same way.  They may have market knowledge that we do not have.  I would say the forecasting is relatively, relatively congenial.

And to the question of do we reconcile them, again, we're not as concerned about short-term forecasts and our accuracy in the short term.  Our planning is longer-term.  So we want to be sure in the short term that we have provided enough resources to operate the system, but other entities probably have a better view on what the next 18 months hold.  We have a view out to 20 years.

MR. BRETT:  So for example, Hydro One's forecasting for transmission, would it be short-term, as well, or medium-term?  Would it take a 20-year framework time?

MR. FARMER:  I'm not actually an expert on Hydro One's actual forecasting.

I would stress we do talk with Hydro One and understand their view on how forecast scenarios will be done and what they believe the forecast will be.

I can't speak to the timeframes.  It would probably depend on whether they were doing a rate filing or some kind of a plan for infrastructure.

MR. BRETT:  You mentioned end-use sectors, and I take it that your forecasting would -- you would go, among other things, you would go sector by sector, would you?  You would look at increased loads in the industrial sector, the commercial, the residential, the low-income sector?

But all of these would be treated as inputs into the overall load forecast?

MR. FARMER:  So when I use the term "end-use" it is by technology type.

So it forecasts lighting uses, it forecasts cooling, it forecasts heating.

Now, it does do that by residential, commercial, industrial sectors.  And in our recent forecasting, we have moved in a view on transportation as we look at the electrification of transit, perhaps, and certainly the electrification of vehicle fleets.

MR. BRETT:  You mentioned initially that the first forecast you did was an external -- you used an external group to do it.  That was the very first one you did for the first IPSP?  Is that to your first forecast?

MR. FARMER:  That's the first one that I'm familiar with, yes.

MR. BRETT:  Now, when you talk about forecasts, load forecasts, I take it that you -- one of the items that you would address or one of the items that you would work with are the, for want of a better word, conservation potential analyses, conservation potential studies.

Is this the case?  Do you start with -- I'm talking now about integrating -- how you go about integrating conservation, the impact of conservation, not natural conservation, but the rest of conservation, the stuff we're talking about this morning or we'll be talking about in the next two days.

I take it the conservation division would do potential forecasts and would do forecasts of that potential as to what is cost-effective.  They would then turn that over to you, and you would then integrate that into your forecast, your load forecast.  Is that how that works?

MR. FARMER:  It may be more helpful to the Board if I briefly outline the process that we use to forecast conservation.

It's relatively straightforward.  The way we work is we work, in the short term, by gathering the program forecasts from the conservation division, and they can speak to how they create those forecasts in their appearance before the Board.

So we take those forecasts for the near term, typically in the three- to five-year time frame, depending on how far ahead programs are being planned.  We also do assessments of what savings will occur from other sources, such as time-of-use rates and codes and standards.

There may be other assessments, also.  We have looked at savings generated by gas industry programs and savings generated by, I believe, the government's program for eco energy.

And that forms a near-term conservation forecast, and that is subtracted from our load forecast.

For the longer term, what we do is we basically extrapolate those forecasts, comparing them against our understanding of potential, to develop long-term views of what conservation savings will be, what the end uses will be, what the shapes -- the load shapes will be, because that's very important to us.

And that allows us to consider conservation in the longer term.

MR. BRETT:  You extrapolate those forecasts, those three- to five-year forecasts, how; by assuming a sort of constant rate of growth in the savings that you've factored into the load forecast?  What do you assume sort of for the future, for the next 15 years?

MR. FARMER:  Yeah, not really a constant forecast of growth.  We know more than just what will happen within the near-term time frame.  So, again, the conservation division will speak more to codes and standards, but we do know which standards and codes are in play.  We do have a view on which ones are likely to be put into play, and we do know how often equipment turns over so that --


MR. BRETT:  You say "we", you mean your own division has this?

MR. FARMER:  Our own division, working together very closely with the conservation division.  We do know how often the equipment turns over.  So if it is a cooling standard, for example, we would have some view of what the average life of an air conditioner is.  We can see how quickly efficiency is moving into the market, and that helps inform our longer-term views.

We also compare it to potential studies that were developed for the IPSP, and we look at the relativity.  For example, we would want to circle back with many people if we saw that the projected conservation in the long-term were exceeding the identified potential.  That would tell us that there is a problem.  So there is a consideration of that at play.

MR. BRETT:  When you say "identified potential", what are you referring to there?

MR. FARMER:  Within the IPSP we identified a conservation potential for -- basically, to serve as a guide in planning conservation.

MR. BRETT:  And you did this, I take it, from the results of various -- of studies that you either -- out of your own analysis or studies that you commissioned on technical potential, cost-effective technical potential?

MR. FARMER:  As I recall, and this is going back, the assessment that was done was an assessment of multiple -- there were two scenarios played out through the modelling, as I recall.

And one was an aggressive scenario that had assumed aggressive codes and standards, aggressive programming levels, what we believed to be aggressive at those times.  And that helped inform the potential that we would be considering.

MR. BRETT:  Now, on the question of what's cost-effective, I take it when you build in -- when you're building in conservation into your load forecast in the way you've described to us, you're building in cost-effective conservation.

And who is doing the analyses to see whether the conservation is cost-effective?  Is that done by the line - for want of a better word, line conservation groups or you or both, or what's the relationship?  How is that done?

MR. FARMER:  It's a good question.  The cost-effectiveness of the near-term portfolio and the program results themselves, as they occur, is performed in the conservation division.  We do longer-term assessments of cost-effectiveness based on what we know about the primary inputs into the total resource cost test and the program administrator's cost test.  So we're able to extrapolate.

In truth, those are primarily driven by the understanding of what those inputs are today.  So the incremental costs of technology, what we believe the cost to promote those technologies will be all filtered in.

MR. BRETT:  I'm sorry.  When you're looking at technologies, do you make some allowance for the reduction costs in technologies over time due to greater market penetration, lower manufacturing costs, and so on?

MR. FARMER:  No, we do not.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And now you effectively -- do you effectively take into account all cost-effective generation?  Let me rephrase that question.

Once you determine what generation is -- what conservation -- sorry, conservation.  I've got enough to worry about just with conservation.

Once you determine, with respect to conservation, what is cost-effective over the medium term or three- to five-year and your longer term, do you include all of the cost-effective conservation in your forecast?

MR. FARMER:  No.  No.  We need to plan for an electricity system that is reliable and that serves customers.  And so to assume that all cost-effective conservation should be included, if it isn't feasible actually procure it, would not be prudent.

So we use a forecast of what we believe can be procured or driven by other means, such as government policies and code standards, time-of-use rates, rather than including all cost-effective.

MR. BRETT:  Is that because -- I mean, you're looking there at the timing of it?  You're essentially saying -- well, when you say what can be procured or what's achievable, is that a temporal concept?  In other words, you're saying, Well, we can get all of it over a certain period of time or we can get most of it, but we can only get it at such a pace?

Is that your analysis or are you saying something different?  Are you saying, as a matter of principle, somehow, some of this will be never achievable?

MR. FARMER:  I certainly wouldn't want to infer that something would never be achievable.  It's actually desirable to be able to capture all cost-effective conservation.  By definition, it's the least cost resource and has great value to the system.

The reason why we do not include all cost-effective is because we cannot be reasonably sure that it can be procured.  I don't know personally of any jurisdiction that has successfully been able to procure all cost-effective conservation, and if we were to assume that it were all in, that would mean that we wouldn't be planning to supply some level of electricity.

So we try to come to an assessment, working with the conservation division and with our stakeholders, of what is feasible.

MR. BRETT:  Now, in your annual report, your CEO says -- in the 2010 annual report.  I don't think you need to turn this up.  You can -- if you're worried about it, you can take it subject to check, and hammer me later if you think I misrepresented it.

But in that report, the CEO says:

"Conservation will always be our first priority since it is our least-cost resource and the most effective way consumers can manage their energy."

So let me ask you this.  Who determines -- I take it from what you're saying that the determinations about -- well, let me go back.

In the February 17th directive with respect to the IPSP that we spoke of earlier, the Minister lays out a series of targets for demand, for conservation, a series of targets in the years 2015, '20, '25 and '30, 2030, as we all know.  I'm sure everybody in the room has read those sections.

Then he goes on to say:

"The plan shall seek to exceed and accelerate the achievement of these CDM targets if this can be done in a manner that is feasible and cost-effective."

So he's saying there -- I take it that you would agree -- that subject to what you're saying -- what you're calling "feasibility" you should attempt to implement as part of the plan, or you should plan for the implementation of all cost-effective conservation?

Is that a fair way to put it?

MR. FARMER:  I do not agree with your conclusion that we should plan for all cost-effective conservation.

MR. BRETT:  No, I didn't say that.  I said subject to feasibility.

MR. FARMER:  So that I believe that is going to be one of the key questions that is considered in the development and review of the IPSP, is:  Can the targets be exceeded?  Is it feasible to do so?

And we'll undertake processes so consult with stakeholders, commencing, actually, May the 17th, by recent announcement.  And I'm sure the review will be extensive around that.

MR. BRETT:  Well, let me put it this way to you.

The question of determination of feasibility is obviously a key question here, as you sort of hone in on this subject.

But just before I get -- I want to get back into that a little bit, but just before I do, you mentioned targets and objectives, whatever you want to call them, that are in the -- which are in the -- now, those are directives from the Minister -- sorry, those targets that I referred to a moment ago for 2010, '15, '20, '25 and '30 are in that directive; correct?

MR. FARMER:  That is correct.

MR. BRETT:  And my question is –- now, that's -– so that's the framework you're working within.  That's what the Minister has given you, the government has given you as a directive.  They've given you those targets for demand -- for achievement of conservation.

Now, do you incorporate those targets into your load forecasting?

MR. FARMER:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. BRETT:  So you're saying, then, that you have taken -- in the forecasting that you're doing currently, you have essentially -- you will include sufficient conservation measures, or you will be forecasting conservation such that these targets will be realized?

That's what I'm asking.

MR. FARMER:  We interpret the directive on conservation to be that we must put together a plan to achieve those targets, and therefore I'm not planning on a demand level other than the achievement of those targets.

And I just wanted to clarify.  You said in our current forecasting.  Our current forecasting efforts are around continuing to build out the prescribed demand levels that the government laid out in the directive, which were net demand levels inclusive of conservation.

So we continue to develop our understanding of those.

MR. BRETT:  Now, when you say the current directive, you mean the one given back in 2006?

MR. FARMER:  No, I believe the February 17th, 2011 directive --


MR. BRETT:  Right?

MR. FARMER:  -- replaces the previous directives?

MR. BRETT:  Right, yes, and that directive has a section that deals with planning for conservation.

And are you just saying that you just agreed with me?  Is that what you were saying there?

MR. FARMER:  Well, to be honest, I wasn't quite sure what you said.

MR. BRETT:  Well, my question –- well, let me rephrase it.

The government has given you a set of targets, a set of objectives in the area of conservation.  They're very specific.  They're both peak and gigawatt-hours.

And I'm asking you if, when you were doing your forecast going forward, your load forecast, you were including those amounts at the appropriate times as conservation that you were forecasting.

For example, in 2015, if my memory serves me right, there's, what, 60 -- 13 terawatts of energy relative to 2005, and something like six -- the peak saving I can't recall right off the top of my head.

But you're going to -- your forecast is essentially going reflect 13 terawatts of saving due to energy conservation in 2015, which is four years from now, in conformance with that directive; is that what you are saying?

MR. FARMER:  So I do need to clarify one thing, which I'm sure will be debated in the IPSP.

When we integrate conservation into the load forecast, conservation has broad descriptors, and there are demand response programs, there are some forms of generation in there, there's energy efficiency, and there's fuel-switching.

Not all of those actually modify a load forecast, which is a difference from what we did in the IPSP.  And in particular, the demand response numbers are not modifying the forecast.  They are --


MR. BRETT:  No, I understand that.


MR. FARMER:  They are just --


MR. BRETT:  That's why I am asking you about energy.  Demand response is a separate item, and the energy savings that derive from demand response, I think we could agree, are typically minimal.

I'm talking about the cumulative savings achieved in 2015, taking into account persistence of savings that are incurred in any particular year, carried forward, not the arithmetic sum of amounts of savings achieved in various years, but the -- you understand I'm saying.

And I guess that is the part that I think what you're telling me is you will -- you will forecast; your forecast will reflect that amount of saving in energy in 2015 from various and sundry conservation initiatives?

MR. FARMER:  So I just want to finish that, to be sure that the Board is clear that demand response programs are considered a supply resource, because they're dispatchable resource and can be used by the IESO and supply planners in that manner.

What will be included will be the portions of these targets that are related to the things that modify the load forecast, and that would be primarily the energy efficiency and fuel-switching numbers that are related to the -- so your example was 2015.  In front of me, I have 4,550 megawatts of demand reduction, and 13 terawatt-hours by the end of 2015.

We will demonstrate that our plan integrates the parts appropriately of that into the demand forecast.

MR. BRETT:  And effectively, you are saying you will have a forecast, then, with respect to the 13 terawatts, for example, that will be reached.

Now, you have three different demand scenarios.

How will you square your scenario planning with that with that approach?  You say you have three different forecasts, three different load forecasts.  Are you saying that one of the variables in your scenario planning is that you will assume different amounts of conservation in each of the three?  Or are you assuming the full amount of conservation in all of the three?

MR. FARMER:  So --


MR. BRETT:  How are you there -- sorry.

MR. FARMER:  No, it's a great question, and it is one that I would defer more to the IPSP process that is commencing now, in terms of the stakeholdering.

You are perfectly correct to suggest that as demand adjusts, that the amount of available conservation might also adjust.  In a strong economy with large industrial growth, you may have more opportunities for conservation and be able to do better than the prescribed targets.

So one of the things I'm sure we'll discuss in the IPSP debate is how, in consideration of the demand forecasts that the government has asked us to consider -- which, although they presented three forecasts in the Long-Term Energy Plan, they asked us to consider two -- we will discuss how the conservation will play into those two.

One of the things we have to reconcile is that there was only a single conservation target presented in the directive, and so we will make sure that our plan for conservation complies with the target, and then explore the possibilities to exceed.

MR. BRETT:  Just perhaps one last question.  I know we are at 12:30.

And that is the -- when you estimate savings, when you incorporate savings from conservation measures into your load forecast, you, I take it from some of your answers to -- at least I think I take it from some of your answers to Mr. Poch in his -- in an IR response to him -- but, in any event, I'll describe this.

When you estimate savings, let's say take savings in the year 2015, the amount of energy savings, not peak, but energy savings.  As I understand it, you would take the actual savings achieved in 2015, and then you would add to that, for example, the savings that were achieved in 2014 that portion of them that would carry forward into 2015, so what you're really giving us and so on back through the years.

So what we get in 2015 is not an arithmetic sum of the amounts of savings that have been done in the five or six years previous, but we get -- we get one number that incorporates everything that's done in 2015, and then essentially discounted amounts for measures in the previous years to account for what you consider to be - and you can defend, and I notice you defended that in your answers to Mr. Poch - what you can defend by way of persistence; is that fair?

MR. FARMER:  Yes.  I think that's a good characterization.  The savings that will occur and be planned for in the year are the savings that will occur in that year.

So the concept of persistence, where things are done perhaps in 2009 -- and those things have a life.  Perhaps their demand response programs, their contracts will expire on and they won't necessarily be recontracted, or perhaps there are lighting programs where the measures have a certain life, and then something has to be done when the customer faces another choice.  Those are all factored in.

We do use persistence assumptions in our longer-term planning, and we do take, in terms of the results achieved to date, the persistence assessments of the conservation division and we incorporate those.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  Mr. Chairman, this might be a good spot to break, from my point of view.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  If that works for you, Mr. Brett.  I don't want to unnaturally interrupt you.

MR. BRETT:  No.  I mean, I do have some other questions for the other gentlemen on the panel, but I can do that after probably as easily.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's great.  So we'll adjourn until 1:30.  Thank you.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:33 p.m.


--- On resuming at 1:38 p.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.

Mr. Brett, just before you begin, I was looking at your estimate of time.

MR. BRETT:  Yeah.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And I had misread it, actually.  Your initial estimate was that you would be 15 to 20 minutes.

MR. BRETT:  Yeah.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  With respect to this panel.

Sorry, Mr. Brett, your microphone.

MR. BRETT:  I'm sorry.  That was an initial estimate, Mr. Chair, before I knew how the panels were going to be organized and who was going to be on what panel.

When I learned that Mr. Farmer was going to be on this panel, it would have dawned on me that this was the only panel that was going to deal with the integration of energy efficiency into the forecast.  Then I was asked again this morning what my -- you know, having learned that, I was asked what my estimate was, and I said an hour.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.

MR. BRETT:  So really, it's -- you know, we were going blind last week, frankly.  We didn't know who the panels were, we didn't know who was on what panel and who was going to testify to what.  I tried to find that out but didn't have any luck, so...

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Could we expect that your CDM cross-examination might be somewhat shorter as a result of this extended time today?

MR. BRETT:  It would be somewhat shorter, yes, because I thought he was going to -- Mr. Farmer was going to be on the CDM.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.

MR. BRETT:  And I have a few questions now on the financial side of things.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Brett.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Thank you, sir.

MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, I'm sorry, just very quickly while we're addressing timing, Mr. Gabriele has an important need to leave by 4:45.  I hope that won't be a difficulty.

The panel can continue, and I don't think that his absence -- if we're still going at that time, at 4:45 -- would affect the ability of the panel to continue.  But if we got close to that time and there were still some questions for Mr. Gabriele, just so that people know that.

Thank you, sir.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It is our hope that we would finish today at 4:30, Mr. Cass, just for everyone else's edification.

Thank you, Mr. Brett.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Chair, Panel.

Mr. Gabriele, I have a few questions for you on the -- and hopefully this will be fairly brief, particularly if you are able to help us with determining exactly where the resources are located here in this organization, and at what costs for the various resource groups or pods.

Could you turn up table 4?  This is Exhibit D, tab 2, schedule 1, page 9, and this is your table of man-years -- or I should say person-years.  FTEs is the current phrase.

Do you see that?

MR. GABRIELE:  Yes, I have that.

MR. BRETT:  Now, you've listed there for each strategic objective, the number of FTEs, both regular and temporary, in your budget for 2011 and in your forecast for 2010.  And I gather your actual 2010 is pretty much the same as your forecast; is that correct, in terms of FTEs?

You now have results for 2010, I gather, audited results?

MR. GABRIELE:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  And is your actual FTE count the same as you forecast?

MR. GABRIELE:  It's very close, in my recollection.

MR. BRETT:  That's fine.

Now, for one of these strategic objectives -- it's number four -- you've broken that down further and you've given us the FTEs for each of the boxes on the organizational chart; correct?

MR. GABRIELE:  Correct.

MR. BRETT:  Now, the salary dollars that are attached and O&M dollars that are attached to these FTEs, without perhaps having to look them up at the moment, as I recall, your salary and pension dollars are something in the order of $30 million, are they not?

MR. GABRIELE:  I believe that's approximately right, yes.

MR. BRETT:  yeah, okay.  And what I would like you to do is -- we now have your revised organization chart that was filed a couple of days ago, right?

MR. GABRIELE:  Right.

MR. BRETT:  And in here you have taken each of the -- well, you actually have -- you've taken each of your major divisions, if you like, and you have six of them: communications, general counsel and vice-president Aboriginal regulatory affairs, conservation, electricity resources, system planning, and business strategies and solutions; right?

MR. GABRIELE:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  So you have five sort of organization -- six organizational units there.

And what I would like you to do is give us, if you can -- and I'm willing to take this by way of undertaking, to save time -- I'd like you to give us the FTEs, both regular and temporary and student, in each of the boxes that are in the following pages.  In other words, for business strategies and solutions, we have four boxes; in communications, we have three; in electricity resources, we have four; in power planning, we have six, and in the general counsel's office, we have three.

And so I don't know what that totals, but something like 20-odd.

Could you give us the –- undertake, please, to give us the number of FTEs in each of those boxes, the salary dollars and pension dollars associated with those FTEs in each of those boxes, and the -- you distinguished earlier, and you have over the course of this proceeding, third-party expenditures, consultants' expenditures, if you like, as opposed to internal expenditures.

So what I'd like is the budget for the internal expenditures, and then separately for each of the boxes, the budget for the third-party outside consultants.

Could you do that, please?  And could we have an undertaking for that?

MR. GABRIELE:  The only piece I'm not a hundred percent certain of is the pension piece, because we're part of a multi-employer pension plan, and getting it by individual would -- so if we put an allocation for that, is that acceptable?

MR. BRETT:  That's fine.  That's fine, if you give an allocation for that.  You have an overall allocation in your evidence, or you have a number in your evidence for the total pension.  But if you gave an allocation, a percentage allocation for the boxes, if it's the same, basically, then that's close enough.

MR. GABRIELE:  Okay.

MR. BRETT:  Or I take it it's approximately the same; it's a constant.

MR. GABRIELE:  Or it would be a rate based on salary, yeah.

MR. BRETT:  Right.  All right.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Are there confidentiality concerns here?

MR. BRETT:  I'm not talking about individual people here, with respect.  I'm talking about a group of people in an organizational unit.

Are you thinking about pensions in particular?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  No, what I'm thinking of is that some of the boxes may not have very many entries underneath them, and that it may be possible under those circumstance -- I'll leave it with Mr. Cass to look through that.

But where, for example, there are only a couple of people --


MR. BRETT:  There's one person –-

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  -- under a box, then we have a confidentiality concern that we need to address.

MR. BRETT:  All right.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  But other than that, I accept what you're asking for.

Mr. Cass, do you have any difficulty with the undertaking?

MR. CASS:  No, sir.  In fact, I'm told that it may be the case -- I don't know this for a certainty, but it may be the case that in some situations it's one person, so we'll have to find a way to deal with confidentiality in answering the undertaking.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.

MR. MILLAR:  That will be Undertaking J1.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  to PROVIDE NUMBER OF FTES IN EACH CATEGORY AND ASSOCIATED SALARY AND PENSION COSTS, AND COSTS OF THIRD-PARTY OUTSIDE CONSULTANTS.

MR. BRETT:  Okay, thank you.  I appreciate that.

Okay.  Just further along that line -- and this is for you, Mr. Gabriele, again -- could you give me in the case of the industrial accelerator program -- you're familiar with that initiative?

MR. GABRIELE:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  The industrial accelerator initiative?

MR. GABRIELE:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  Could you give me the approximate number of staff in that unit, please?  That's the unit that has these -- what are they called -- account officers that deal with outside -- this is the group that deals with the large industrial customers, and there's a group of account executives and management, presumably.

What is that level of resource in there, in terms of people?

MR. GABRIELE:  I might ask that question is better directed to the conservation panel.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  Okay.

So you're saying, basically, that the details of the individual units in terms of their people and -- now we're talking -- just so I'm clear here, we've got the boxes organized.


The next step I'm trying to take is look at the individual initiatives, what we call initiatives and what we described as initiatives at issues day, and what the Board said in its decision on issues day was that effectively -- well, let me take it in two steps.

First of all, there's an issue which is entitled 2.4, and it says:
"Is the budget for Strategic Objective #2 appropriately allocated among the initiatives being pursued."


Now, I think, in fairness, we all understand what initiatives were.  We discussed this at great length on issues day.

What you have now is a budget organized by program.  And the Board in its decision on issues day said, and I quote -- this is on January 11th.  This is the decision that is part of Procedural Order No. 2.  The Board said, and I quote:
"The Board appreciates the OPA's argument that because the OPA's administrative activities are driven by government directives and policies, its priorities and activities can change significantly and suddenly. These circumstances require the OPA to maintain a certain amount of flexibility.  However, the Board is of the view that the allocation of the OPA's budget among its objectives and initiatives is germane to this proceeding and that this issue should remain on the issues list.  The Board is of the view..."

This is the key point I'd like you to listen to, please:
"...that an organization with the OPA's sophistication and responsibilities should be able to provide information as to how its budget is allocated among initiatives, for the purpose of assessing whether the proposed fees are reasonable and appropriate."


So you have not done that.  You have not filed evidence on an initiatives basis; correct?

MR. GABRIELE:  We have our initiatives listed in the evidence.

MR. BRETT:  You're referring to where in your evidence?

MR. GABRIELE:  In each of the strategic objectives.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  No, I understand that.  But your dollars, your operating dollars as filed in schedule D, are filed on a program basis; right?  Your FTEs and your operating dollars are filed on the basis of generation, conservation, the other five strategic initiative points.

I don't think this is a complicated question.

MR. GABRIELE:  In area D is our strategic objectives, our budgets by strategic objective.

MR. BRETT:  In area D, you've broken down your FTEs and your dollars into those boxes.

MR. GABRIELE:  Correct.

MR. BRETT:  But in the other areas you have not.

MR. GABRIELE:  We have the listing by strategic -- the cost of each strategic objective in the --


MR. BRETT:  Each strategic objective; correct?

MR. GABRIELE:  Correct.

MR. BRETT:  But not each initiative?

MR. GABRIELE:  Not each initiative.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  Well, that's fine.  So you haven't done that.

And I guess my next question is -- you've undertaken to give a breakdown of the amounts in the boxes.  I would like you, subject to confidentiality -- well, I'll tell you what.  I don't need to know the numbers for administration and pensions.  I just want the FTEs for each -- associated with each initiative.

Can you do that?  That's what you were essentially, I think -- well, you weren't directed to do it, but there is an issues list -- there is an issue on this issues list that presumes -- presumes that the parties in this proceeding are going to have the dollar values on an initiative basis in order to try and help them figure out whether the resources for this budget is proper.

MR. CASS:  Excuse me, Mr. Chair.  Mr. Brett is now presenting an argument.  Might I encourage him, through you, to put a question to the witness, and I'm sure the witness will do his very best to answer the question.

MR. BRETT:  All right, sir.  Well, I'm sorry.  My question is --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think maybe I could do it.  What Mr. Brett, I think, is looking for is if it is possible for you to provide, on an FTE basis, a breakdown as per initiative, so with respect to the initiatives that are listed in the evidence, the FTEs that are associated with that initiative, if that information is -- if you have that information.

MR. BRETT:  Thank you.

MR. GABRIELE:  So for the 2011 evidence, we have not compiled the information in that fashion.  So the FTEs are not strictly limited to one specific initiative over the year.  They work cross-functional -- in cross-functional tasks, and we haven't developed our evidence with the amount of time for each individual on a cross-functional task.

So we have done it by strategic objective and the initiatives under those strategic objectives provide a fairly reasonable level of clarity on that.

MR. BRETT:  Well, I don't -- and with respect, Mr. Chairman, I disagree that they provide a reasonable level of clarity on the FTEs assigned to each initiative.  I don't think they provide any clarity.

If you're saying to us that you haven't got the time do this in the context of what we're in here --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It wasn't my impression that it was a timing issue, Mr. Brett.  My impression was that the organization simply doesn't allocate FTEs by initiative, but that the organization -- and you can correct me if I am wrong, but what they seem to be suggesting in their evidence and today is that they organize basically on a cross-functional basis.

MR. BRETT:  I agree with what you're saying.  I agree with your understanding of what it is they're saying.  And I guess my comment to you, sir, and panel, would be, I mean, when all is said and done, from a manpower point of view, the OPA is a pretty simple organization.  It's 240 people.

This city is full of huge engineering firm, law firms, accounting firms, management consulting firms, that manage to track their time on a project-by-project basis, time sheets, whatever else is used.

I'm assuming, and maybe I'm assuming wrongly, that the OEB has some mechanism for -- that the OPA has some mechanism for doing this.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think that's a legitimate line of questions, but what the answers are is dependent on what the organization does.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So if you want to ask some further questions about that, that's certainly appropriate.  But if they don't have the answers, there's not much we can do to create them.

MR. BRETT:  Yeah.  I think perhaps the answer might be, in part, what Mr. Gabriele said, that this is a question that might be better addressed to the -- well, let me ask you -- all right,  let me take it in two pieces.

The first part is:  Do you keep time sheets?  Do your people keep time sheets for the tasks that they do?  In other words, for purposes of accountability, our friend, Mr. Farmer, said this morning he doesn't have any staff, but he works -- staff work with him on all sorts of different projects and he works with them.

If a manager is trying to determine who's done what and who's accountable for what, for purposes of performance or bonus contracting or just whether you have a job next year, if you get to keep your job, as an old friend of mine used to say, isn't he going to want to know what time was spent?  Isn't he going to want to know who were the principal contributors to the various initiatives the organization has been involved in, make some assessment of the priorities, which were the most important, who's doing the real heavy lifting, who's sort of in the middle and who's coasting?

How else are you going to know that if you don't have some kind of record of what these folks do, or is there no record whatsoever?

MR. GABRIELE:  The first part of your question, about whether we keep time sheets, the answer is no.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.

MR. GABRIELE:  With regards to projects, a project manager is constantly evaluating performance.  So on a go-forward basis, that's part of the input in the performance appraisal process.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Then I think that the other area here is to -- the other way to go at this is to -- but it's an area that takes time, and so I'm reluctant to embark on it now.  I may ask -- and it may be what Mr. Gabriele said to us, that some of these questions -- the question I asked him about the industrial accelerator program, how many bodies are in there and so on, he said:  Well, you really should ask that to the line people.  So I'll do that.  I'll pick out the pods that I think are most susceptible to easy quantification, and ask either of the two folks that are appearing on the panel.

So I think that with that, I think that that will be... I guess I just have one further question.  I was going to say that will be all of my questions.  I have one further short question, and it's more of a technical financial question, if I can see these numbers, pull these numbers together here.

MR. CASS:  All right, Mr. Chair.  While Mr. Brett is doing that, I'm sorry, we were talking here, and I may have missed something.

If Mr. Brett was suggesting that questions of the nature that Mr. Gabriele has now been answering could be addressed by another panel, I'm not sure that that's the case.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think I understood Mr. Brett to be saying something different than that.  And correct me if I am wrong, Mr. Brett.

I think what Mr. Brett was indicating, that on a project-by-project basis, as with the industrial accelerator program, he may put that question to the conservation panel, to see if they have a more precise idea as to the allocation of personnel.

MR. BRETT:  That's what I did say, yes.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  My apology.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. BRETT:  Yeah, the question I had, Mr. Gabriele, this is more of, I think, an accounting question.

If you look at table 6 on -- look back at the same exhibit, Exhibit D, tab 2, schedule 1, page 10, just over the page from the page we were looking at before

In fact, actually, look at both table 6 and table 5, but I'll start with table 6.

If I look at the 2010 forecast numbers, those -- I know you've gotten -- since this was originally filed, you filed some supplementary evidence on 2010 actuals, audited actuals.  And I believe they show essentially that you're very, very close, that your forecast is equivalent to your actuals, pretty much.

Am I right on that?

MR. GABRIELE:  Yeah, the forecast and actuals are very close.

MR. BRETT:  Yeah.  And so the -- leaving aside that discrepancy, the budget for 2010 for strategic objective five was 5.5 million on this chart.

The actual amount spent was $2.6 million, right?

MR. GABRIELE:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  So there was a lapse, or we used to call it a lapse in government circles, but I guess it's just a - you didn't spend.  There's a variance -- in OEB circles -- of $3.4 million; correct?

MR. GABRIELE:  That is correct.

MR. BRETT:  And your comparisons that you put together on the previous page that Ms. Brant asked you about this morning, you were comparing budget to budget, right?  Budget 2010 to budget 2011?

MR. GABRIELE:  That is correct.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  So in effect, what you have here in -- so effectively you've marked down your budgets fairly -- for publicity, you've marked your budget down from something like five and a half to 2.1, right?

Sorry, your budget -- yes, that's right.  Your budget for 2010 was 5.5, and your budget for 20011 is 2.1, so a large part of your saving is saving in communications; is that right?

MR. GABRIELE:  That is correct.

MR. BRETT:  And then if we look over in -- and I don't know whether -- well, let me just put this question to you.

If we look on table 5 on the previous page, we see there that you have audit, legal, stakeholder and other.  These are third-party professional and consulting costs.

Legal, you have a budget of 2.3, and an actual of 5.6 million; you paid 5.6 million in legal fees in 2010.  You've budgeted next year for -- so I guess a couple of questions on that.

Number one, why do you not have a larger in-house legal department?

MR. GABRIELE:  Specifically, it's -- I don't know if I can answer, but I can tell you how we go about adding legal resources.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  Okay.

MR. GABRIELE:  Legal resources are added based on an analysis of the types of resources incurred over a year.  And where there is consistency in the technical expertise that is required on a particular legal channel, we evaluate whether that's going to go forward.  If it's going to go forward, then we look at a permanent resource.

And if we find that it's going to be incremental or up and down, then we don't add a resource.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  But you have an increasing budget.  Your budget was 2,354 in 2010.  You've doubled your budget practically, not quite doubled it, in 2011.

These are lawyers that, if I recall, are doing a lot of contract negotiation with various parties.  Can't you hire people to do that for a lot less money than you're paying to senior associates or partners of the large firms here?

MR. GABRIELE:  I can't speak to the initial -- all of the pieces of work that are driving that increase.

Certainly, I think the IPSP is going to be a contributor, and the Aboriginal consultations will be a contributor.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman, Panel.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Brett.

Mr. Poch?

MR. POCH:  I think I'm next, Mr. Chairman.  Let me first of all apologize.  It may be a bit disjointed, since I too am moving things between panels, and I'll try not to duplicate what's been said.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Poch:


MR. POCH:  Witness panel, let me just say one of the things we are concerned about -- this may help you in understanding my questions -- one of the things we're concerned about in this hearing is just understanding where the accountabilities lie for different tasks that you have, whether it's to this Board in the context of its annual revenue requirement proceedings, or whether it's something you view as IPSP.  And I don't want to delve into IPSP issues, but just -- we want to allocate what those mechanisms are.  So that will, I think, come up a couple of times.

First of all, earlier today, in discussing -- I think it was with Mr. Brett, Mr. Farmer, you were talking about load forecasting and integrating conservation into that.  And let me just understand the facts.

I took it from that that economic and technical and achievable potential studies or some mix of those for conservation, you referred to them having been done for the first IPSP; correct?

MR. FARMER:  That is correct.

MR. POCH:  And then I heard you say the question of the feasibility of exceeding the directive, as the directive calls you to look at exceeding that, is something that you would be consulting with stakeholders on, starting on May 17th; correct?

MR. FARMER:  That is correct.

MR. POCH:  Right.  Well, first of all, let me -- I'm going to suggest -- Mr. Chairman, I've created a composite of materials I'll be referring to in this and other panels.  It's not all in this one.  Perhaps we should give this an exhibit for reference.

MR. MILLAR:  This will be the GEC compendium, Exhibit K1.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  GEC COMPENDIUM OF MATERIALS.

MR. POCH:  And I believe my friends have that.  There are copies here for the other parties.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  These compendia are always welcome.  Thank you.

MR. POCH:  And I was just going to refer to page 2 of the compendium, which is a reproduction of that, what has become known as the Supply Mix Directive.

And at the very bottom of that page, you can see that the Minister has said to the OPA, "The plan shall seek" -- this is IPSP:
"...shall seek to exceed and accelerate the achievement of DCM targets if this can be done in a manner that is feasible and cost-effective."

So with that context, do I understand you correctly that in fact you have not gone out now and done studies to see what is feasible and cost-effective to incorporate into your plan, beyond the studies that you did back in -- well, I guess it would have been 2006?  Correct me if I am wrong.

MR. FARMER:  We have not prepared an updated potential assessment for this particular IPSP, so we're still relying on the potential assessments done and modified by our program experience over the last few years.

MR. POCH:  And I take it it's not in your work plan that you'll be doing that in the next -- in this cycle?

MR. FARMER:  We're not planning to do those in this cycle, this cycle being the 2011 year.  We do have a plan to update the load forecast, and, as part of that plan, there will be a revised economic potential, but I expect that to be ready for the '12 cycle.

MR. POCH:  All right.  I'll have some questions for the conservation panel, but I won't pursue them now.

Let me just -- and I just want to try to understand how -- what's for these annual processes and what's for the IPSP.

Let's just start with the timing of the IPSP.  We understand that the Board's issuance of their decision in that case is constrained by directive to the 12-month period following the filing of that application.  Is that your understanding, as well?

MR. FARMER:  My understanding is that, yes, the Minister issued a directive to the Board to complete the review within 12 months.

MR. POCH:  All right.  And I'm assuming the decision is in that time frame, or shortly thereafter, but that's a matter of semantics.  We don't need to decide.

Is my understanding also correct that you anticipate filing the IPSP formally in August of this year or September?

MR. FARMER:  So in response to, I believe it was the GEC interrogatory on the schedule that we anticipated for IPSP, we had laid out a schedule which concluded with a filing in August.

I can update that where we're at now is that we are commencing our stakeholder consultation on the IPSP.  A notification went out to several stakeholders last week on Friday.

The first session is planned for May 17th.  We will hold subsequent sessions.  The first session is planned to be a process and overview session where we'll deal with what process we intend to follow in the IPSP.

The overview is an overview of the status and outlook for electricity service, given the directives that we have received and the way we understand them, and a support document for that I believe was posted on our website this morning, which is intended to inform that first consultation.

So we expect to be through the first set of consultations by late May to early June, depending on how those go.  We will be doing Aboriginal and First Nations and Metis consultation, as well, in that same time frame.

We still hope to file the IPSP at the end of August, but we can at this time not necessarily commit to it, as it will depend on the amount of work to be done and the amount of feedback that we receive.

MR. POCH:  All right.  So late August is now kind of the earliest in its --


MR. FARMER:  I would say that would be right.

MR. POCH:  And it sounds likely there may be some slippage thereafter.  You're nodding.  I take it that's agreement to that?

MR. FARMER:  That would be a "yes."

MR. POCH:  And obviously if -- depending on the results of the November election, there may be other delays if there's a new government and they decide to change your marching orders?

MR. FARMER:  I'm not going to speculate on, (a) how an election may turn out, and (b) what decisions a new government, whether this government or a new government, may do.

MR. POCH:  Let's assume it gets filed, then, as you're currently planning, and there's a year's process before you get a decision.

Can we agree, then, that if the Board finds out you need to make any kind of changes, substantial changes, to hit your -- and I'm thinking specifically the 2015 conservation targets, which are the nearest-term targets in the Minister's directive, you're really going to be starting into that response mode in 2013 at the earliest?

You're not going to get this Board's decision until late in 2012.  That means you're scrambling to get something up and running in 2013?

MR. FARMER:  I certainly appreciate the concern that you're putting forward, and I do think it's going to be a bit of an issue.

However, I think there are mechanisms in place already that may inform how we're going to do towards -- if not the 2015, perhaps the 2014.  As LDCs, my understanding, and I would defer as much of this to the conservation panel as I can, but there is annual reporting.  There are plans put together.  The Board will be reviewing those.

So I think there will be indicators - the IESO reports on progress - that may be used to get to those -- to the early time frame.  But I do appreciate that if there is a lot of substantive review that the Board has input on, it may be fairly late in the cycle.

MR. POCH:  You're getting to the crux of the matter.  I'm trying to determine -- I mean, this Board has to decide what it can safely leave to the IPSP process, what's not part of its annual review, to make sure you're spending money appropriately now.  And I'm trying to understand what's going to be dealt with in the IPSP and can be dealt with in the IPSP and appropriately left there, and what is something you're needing to pay attention to in the interim and where it might be appropriate to have some milestones, at least for your administrative spending now.

So I heard what you said, but can we agree that 2013 is pretty late in the day if this Board felt that you needed to make some substantial changes in, say, your approach to accelerating conservation to meet the 2015 target in the directive?

Can we agree that you would hope -- you would want to be making mid-course corrections before then?

MR. FARMER:  Well, we certainly will be making mid-course corrections, and, for that reason, I think I'll do my best to defer as much of this to the conservation panel, who will be talking about things like change management, for example, how they interact with the primary deliverers.

If we take that first target, although the IPSP has not been reviewed, the target, in my view, is by directive, and a plan has been put together to meet it.  And the organization takes that seriously.

MR. POCH:  Well, yeah.  But as we've seen, the directive specifically calls upon you to look at accelerating and exceeding the minimum numbers for 2015.

And so let's back up a minute.  We're in the real world here.  We have a coal phase-out in 2014.  We have nuclear plant shutdowns either to be refurbished or retired in the middle of the decade.  There's a real need for you guys to perform.  I think we can agree on that?

MR. FARMER:  I would say now we are getting into the content of the IPSP where we will determine the need for resources.  We will provide an assessment of whether the retirement of coal by the end of 2014 is in hand.  And so while I want to stress that the assumptions we use for demand are inclusive of the conservation, I think we should leave it for the IPSP process.

And I think that if you read that document this morning, you would see that things are laid out pretty well.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  I haven't seen this document.  I'm not here -- I readily acknowledge this proceeding is not to debate the adequacy of your plan or -- but this proceeding is to look at whether you are doing the job you need to be doing now and whether your application for your annual revenue requirement is excessive or inadequate for the tasks that you face in the near term.

And I'm just trying to understand when this task is.  You've been asked to look at exceeding or accelerating conservation.  I've spoken of the context.  Is this something you are going to be undertaking during the currency of this -- the application before us today, in the 2011 period?

MR. FARMER:  Inasmuch as the IPSP is expected to be filed this year, yes, we would undertake to look at that.  The IPSP will seek -- one of the issues will be:  Will it seek to exceed or accelerate conservation?  So it will be part of the process, yes.

MR. POCH:  All right.  And if your studies tell you there is more you can get, feasibly, in the Minister's words, would you agree that you might need to be rolling on that before the outcome of the whole IPSP process?

MR. FARMER:  I would --


MR. POCH:  We shouldn't await 2013, if that's -- if there is.

MR. FARMER:  I would agree that any planning process, including an IPSP, would want to include all conservation that is feasible and cost-effective.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  So I guess -- do you have any milestone for this Board, in its -- wearing its hat as annual reviewer of your budget, when you anticipate having analysis of the potential to feasibly exceed, accelerate and exceed your CDM goals, and what your implementation plan for that is?  Is that going to be -- I didn't see one in your filing.  I didn't get a straight answer from you yet on whether you agreed with me that waiting until some process passed the IPSP is adequate.

It was my presumption, then, it's not adequate.  Do you have you a milestone you can offer when this Board might expect that that work will be done, so it will understand whether you need to be beefing up your conservation resources?

And of course, this Board is also responsible for overseeing the LDCs, who are the soldiers out there.

MR. FARMER:  And I recognize and appreciate everything you've suggested, and I'm going to ask that you re-ask that of the conservation program.

MR. POCH:  All right.  That's fine.

MR. FARMER:  Given the process that I outlined earlier, where the near-term targets are largely -- or performance is largely derived from the conservation program's experience.

MR. POCH:  All right.  We'll come back to that with them, then.  That's fair.

Just while we're on the timing of the IPSP, without getting into a discussion of the substance of the matter, I would have anticipated -- and correct me if I am wrong -- that the events in Japan have thrown a bit of a wrench into the works on a nuclear planning side, both timing and cost.

Is the filing of the plan now at risk, time-wise, because of that, to your knowledge?

MR. FARMER:  To my knowledge, no.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Now, in strategic objective five, you -- and this is at page 27 of our materials.

In the middle of the page, there's the bold bullet.  You're going to:

"Proactively and consistently deliver high-quality stakeholder outreach and engagement activities."

We're particularly interested in the CDM aspects of things.  Have we missed it?  Has there been any formal or funded consultation process in the last year that includes intervenors such as my clients, that enables them to take a close look at your CDM plans, your evaluations and your results?

Or is that in the future?

MR. FARMER:  I would defer that question to conservation.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  And if we could turn to page 16 of our cross materials, K1.2, I've reproduced there table 1 from your filing, which is your efficiency metrics.

Recall, the Board felt -- made some comments about that last year, and you've responded with some metrics.

And I note that your -- you've got efficiency metrics there for net annual peak demand, for example.  And I'm just trying to find the right reference here.

Yes.  If you look at that, under the heading "Conservation", the first line there, it's asterisked, and the footnote indicates that it includes incremental savings plus savings that are still persisting from previous years.

But I wondered why, given that we're in this context of directive targets, coal phase-out, nuclear capacity interruptions, why you wouldn't have a metric that looked at persistence going forward.  Wouldn't that be a more important metric for the organization?  Isn't that what your fundamental task is, is to keep the lights on in the province going forward?

MR. FARMER:  I'm again going to defer, because the creation of metrics are a matter for the conservation division when it comes to conservation results.

To the earlier discussion that we had, I believe, with Mr. Brett, we were discussing persistence, and we certainly do integrate the savings that will persist into our plans.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  So if I have questions about whether that metric is appropriate, I can deal with that in the next panel.  Thank you.

All right.  I wanted to look at some matters pertaining to strategic objective three, and this is to identify -- it includes -- strategic objective three includes:

"To identify barriers, limitations, develop and/or define methods and solutions to deliver enhanced generation developments."

And I wanted to look at the OPA's roles and responsibilities and the anticipated timing to address some issues that have arisen in the FIT and the microFIT worlds.

You know, your metrics we just referred to speak about contracted FIT, for example, and microFIT.  And you do report in-service capacity, but that's largely the non-renewable genre.

So I just want to start by saying:  Can we agree that contracted doesn't necessarily keep the lights on?  You need to have things actually built and connected?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  Yeah, that's correct.  When a generation facility receives -- achieves commercial operation, then it's commercially operable and available for generating into the market.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Well -- and if we take a look at the microFIT side, you can receive applications and you can make conditional offers, but they aren't necessarily connected and contracted, in simple terms?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  That's correct.  We make a conditional offer, and then the applicant has responsibilities to design and build and have their project connected.

MR. POCH:  Right.  And in fact, I took some of your stats off your website, if you turn to page 28 of my materials.  And this is for the microFIT side.

And rather than just reproduce your monthly or bimonthly, your half-monthly, I just took every -- I just took the monthly and reproduced them here in a table, and just did the bottom half of the table as simply the deltas.

And have you had a chance to just confirm that this is accurate?  Will you take it, subject to check?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  Subject to check.

MR. POCH:  Sure.

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  I'm not going to recalculate it now, but I trust the --


MR. POCH:  No, I wouldn't ask you to.

The information from your website shows that 28,411 applications for microFITs have been received as of April 29th, representing 260 megawatts, but only 39 megawatts, 15 percent, have been contracted.

And just looking at this table, the trend of late suggests to me, at least, that a problem has emerged.  There is an increasing number of terminated applications, decreasing numbers of new applications in the last few months, and a dramatic reduction in the number of new offers in the last few months.

And do you see that from the table?  I'm just looking at the -- I've highlighted those three rows, the last parts of those three rows, to show those trends.

I wonder if you can, first of all, confirm that's your experience?  And maybe I'll jump right to it.

My understanding is that that's largely due to a problem that's arisen with Hydro One-connecting customers; is that correct?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  So, again, referencing the fields that you've highlighted here, there have been some challenges with microFIT applications having their projects connected, where it's Hydro One distribution or other LDCs.

So that certainly is one factor that would contribute to some of the numbers.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Can you give me some sense of if there's any other major factors at play?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  Another factor is, in earlier questioning this morning, there was a discussion regarding processing times.  So the OPA has, as I mentioned, been trying to improve processing times, especially on microFIT.  And we did have some backlog of applications, so we have been trying to work through that backlog.  And, as we do, we can only offer conditional offers to applications we have.

So I think that as we move through some of that, that number may go down, as well.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  Now, I wanted to ask you about your role as the sort of sectoral integrator and, to some extent, implementer, something Mr. Brett touched on earlier.  And I wanted to make this a little more real.

So I've included at page 29 an example of the plight of a Mr. Scheuneman.  I mean, I hasten to add you need not comment on the specifics of Mr. Scheuneman's plight nor are they particularly critical.  Really, it's just to put some context here, and I can synopsize this.

Mr. Scheuneman happens to be a retired gentleman on a disability pension who happens to live down the road from me, and was looking to me for some help and consented to my referencing his situation.

And he happens to be one of those non-contracted - ultimately, he had a conditional offer but not a contract, because he's not connected - microFIT applicants.

And as you see here, on February 10, he was informed by Hydro One that they aren't going connect him, at least not in the immediate future, and I guess the sad situation that Mr. Scheuneman is facing is that this gentleman on a fixed income spent $65,000 -- you know, mortgaged and spent $65,000 putting in a solar array, a huge sum for him, and he's stuck.

First of all, is my understanding correct that you are probably getting letters from about a thousand Mr. Scheunemans?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  The document you're referencing is an e-mail from Hydro One.

MR. POCH:  Yes.

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  So I know that Hydro One has sent out a letter such as this to those parties in their connection area that are having issues.

MR. POCH:  Right.  And what's your understanding of how common an occurrence this is, not just in Hydro One, but throughout the province?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  I think what we've heard from either Hydro One or LDCs is that there are certain areas of the province where there are definitely connection challenges, and there's other areas of the province where there don't seem to be any connection challenges.  And I think it largely depends where you're located and the type of system you're connecting to.

MR. POCH:  I threw out the number of a thousand.  Is that in the ballpark; do you know?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  I'm not sure what Hydro One's numbers are.  The OPA hasn't received that type of feedback from applicants.

MR. POCH:  So is my understanding correct that the OPA is aware of this problem, but hasn't got any sense of how extensive this issue is?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  No.  I think the OPA is very well aware of the problem, and the OPA has been trying to work with Hydro One, with the LDCs, to try to get an understanding of how extensive the program -- or the problem is, which areas of the province it may be located in and to try to find solutions to that.

So the OPA is certainly working co-operatively with those other parties, but the responsibility for ultimately making the connection lies with the distributor.  So we can just try to work with them to better understand.

MR. POCH:  Right.  Well, can I get an indication -- this line of cross is about whether the OPA is stepping up and playing a role, a leadership role, or whether we're spending an awful lot of money on a program when -- and, when there's problems, nobody's taking the lead to solve them.

I think that's important in terms of whether this money is being spent efficiently and the program is being managed effectively.

And I'm not here today to suggest a solution to the problem or anything else, but I think it would be informative for us to understand, first of all, how extensive this particular example is.  So, you know, if you could -- I gather you don't have it today.  Could you provide us with an indication of how many individual applicants are facing connection difficulties in your microFIT side?

MR. CASS:  Excuse me, Mr. Chair.  I'm struggling myself with the relevance of this answer, first of all, because it involves information from other parties.  I realize that Mr. Poch could only possibly in this proceeding be looking at what knowledge the OPA has about this information of other parties.

However, in the context of the OPA's 2011 revenue requirement, I'm hard-pressed to understand how it really is going to assist in deciding whether the revenue requirement or fees proposed for 2011 are appropriate.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I can see where there may be a connection, but I'm not sure that the level of detail that you're asking for, Mr. Poch, is really required.

I think, if I can paraphrase, what Mr. Poch is getting at is that the organization is not appropriately resourced to execute the program.  And I think that's a fair question within the context of the revenue requirement, but I don't think we necessarily need to have the detail as to how many instances of that there actually are.  It seems to me that that's a...

MR. POCH:  That's fair, Mr. Chairman, and really, if I had the answer earlier that, yes, it's something like a thousand, that would have been sufficient and perhaps I can proceed.

I guess our concern here is that a general sense that problems are arising -- I heard discussion earlier about the FIT, and now I'm talking about the microFIT, and we had some discussion earlier about what work is being done to address conservation.

And we never feel that -- we feel like we're never in the right room to have OPA be -- even acknowledge responsibility, let alone being accountable.  And I'm trying to get a fix on whether they view this as their responsibility.  And of course we'll make some recommendations to the Board in that regard.

So maybe I should just jump to that and we'll leave the number out there.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. POCH:  Do you view this as your responsibility to try to address the situation and take a leadership role and get these problems solved and get this generation in place?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  So I think it's a very important question, and, yes, we do take it very seriously.

You know, we continue to offer contracts to conditional -- or offer conditional offers to applicants where connection availability exists, and we continue to do that as expeditiously as we can.

This is one of the reasons that led to the rule change that we implemented regarding conditional offers and availability of connection being a prerequisite for that, in order to try to openly communicate and explain to applicants that they required the ability to connect prior to a conditional offer being made.

So this is sort of one of the things we did to try to take a leadership role and get out all the problems.

MR. POCH:  That was in December when you started telling applicants, You need to go and get your connection cleared before we're going to give you a conditional offer; correct?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  That's correct.

MR. POCH:  That didn't help Mr. Scheuneman, of course, but how does that solve this problem?  How does that get the Hydro Ones of this world on the ball to address these issues, these bottlenecks and what have you?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  So I think to the first part, for any applicant after December 8th, it goes to try to avoid the situation to which you refer, whereby an applicant doesn't find themself in that situation.  So I think proactively that looks to that.

For anybody like the gentleman you mentioned, the OPA is working with Hydro One to try to identify the areas where we've had issues with applicants and to try to work with them on what the limitations are on the system, and what may or may not be able to be done in terms of a transmission or distribution fix to try to help those individuals.

MR. POCH:  Well, let me give you a specific.  I understand that the problem often is that Hydro One has a rule that they won't connect if the generation on a feeder is more than 7 percent of minimum load; whereas the FERC rule in the States is 15 percent.

I'm wondering if that's the kind of thing that you're challenging Hydro One on.  Do you view it as your role to be an advocate and to get these things done, or is that somebody else's job?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  Yeah, I think the OPA definitely -- definitely needs to be involved there.  But we are also not the transmitter or the distributor with the licence requirements.  So we certainly recommend that they do everything in their ability to try to connect those projects, but ultimately they're the asset owners and they have to be responsible for the decisions they make with respect to which assets they connect to their systems.

MR. POCH:  Well, you are the agency responsible for getting the FIT program and the microFIT program and getting generation.  So I'm wondering if you have set a milestone for yourself to resolve these problems and to achieve certain goals in terms of numbers of connections, number of connected, contracted microFIT and FIT applicants and megawatts.

I didn't see one that pertained to this.  Have I missed it?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  There is no specific goal number that was mentioned in here.  And that is that the directive called for encouraging and promoting the use of those technologies, and as such, we're trying to promote them to the degree we can.

But with respect to the situation you referred with the gentleman, certainly we'd be working as quickly as we can to try to make sure that anybody that's in that situation can get connected as soon as possible.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Let's just look at the FIT side for a moment.  And we've -- I don't want to spend too much time on this.

You've explained in your evidence that on the FIT side there are various tests, the transmission, the TAT test and the DAT test that determine if these larger FIT projects can get connected to the transmission or the distribution system as applicable, and that if there is a limitation on the system, you then proceed to this economic connection test, the ECT; correct?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  That is correct.

MR. POCH:  All right.  And you've now said in your evidence that you have a milestone of the first ECT results being available in the second quarter of 2011; correct?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  I believe that's what the evidence stated, yes.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Is my understanding correct that there have been numerous delays in getting to the point where you can do the ECT?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  There have been several delays to launching the first ECT.  That's correct.

MR. POCH:  All right.  And the ECT determines where you, OPA, views that the beefing up of the distribution of transmission system is warranted; correct?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  It sets that out based on the metrics that are included in the filing.

MR. POCH:  Right.  In fact, I've just reproduced your response to our interrogatory at page 31, on the last page of our cross materials.

And my read of this is that the ECT basically determines whether fixing the problem is more or less expensive than the historical -- and I think the threshold value there is $500 per kilowatt -- the historical level you found was spent to incorporate generation.

And that's the benchmark you're proposing to use; correct?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  That is correct.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Let me just ask as an aside.  I can -- to incorporate the Bruce, they built 500 kV transmission from two directions, then they expanded the southwest, and now more recently, we've had this whole process expanding the grid again, 500 kV grid again, between Bruce -- I think it's in Barrie.

Does all that get counted in that?  Or were you only looking -- does this number come from just radial licence, when only a radial line is needed to connect a generator?

MR. FARMER:  I'm sorry, you mean with reference to the $500 per kilowatt threshold?

MR. POCH:  Just the derivation of the historic number.

MR. FARMER:  I actually could perhaps undertake to provide more information.  I don't know exactly what led to the $500.

MR. POCH:  It would helpful just to have a little -- just a little understanding of that.  And really it goes this, and the follow-up, which is there's obviously going to be a limiting factor for this program, and the scale of this program.  It could be -- my understanding is a very significant factor for how big your FIT program is, how much work you have to do.

Was that number given do you by direction, or is that a test you've devised on your own?

MR. FARMER:  I believe the ECT thresholds were stakeholdered, and they were a function of the work by our transmission group within power system planning.

MR. POCH:  Right.  So in other words, you've developed it yourself?  You obviously consulted with people --


MR. FARMER:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  -- but that you've done it yourself.

So first of all, let me get an undertaking before I forget, that you were just going to talk about the derivation of that number.

So OPA will provide the derivation of the $500 per kilowatt ECT?

MR. FARMER:  If I could refine it to be, I'll -- we'll undertake to provide additional information as to how we derived.  I'm not sure of the exact math.

MR. POCH:  That's certainly adequate.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  J1.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.4:  to PROVIDE ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON DERIVATION OF Threshold of $500 per kilowatt ECT

MR. POCH:  Thank you.

I guess my question comes down to this.

You've made some judgment about that, you know, right or wrong.  It has a big impact on what's going to happen out there in the world, and on your workload and the implications for the rest of your planning process budget, both administrative and, obviously, procurement.

You've indicated that it didn't come from a directive.

What's the accountability mechanism for that decision?  Is that something that you believe is part of the IPSP?  Or since you're already doing it, is it something you feel is -- how are you accountable for that?

MR. FARMER:  I wonder if you could clarify the "that", if I can use that term.  Accountable for the $500 per KW threshold in applying the tests or...

MR. POCH:  Yeah, it seems to be to be a major judgment decision.  I'm wondering is that something that's going to be reviewed in the IPSP.  Or is there some other mechanism by which you justify that to either this Board or some other entity?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Poch, I'm going interrupt that, because I'm not sure exactly how that does relate to the revenue requirement.

MR. POCH:  Well, that's fair, Mr. Chairman.  What I was really getting at was if -- as I indicated in my preamble, I haven't heard any dissent from Mr. Farmer.  It seems to be a major decision that affect their scope of work, and I'm just trying to understand how that -- when that decision becomes final, does it get tested somewhere, because that -- it would, in turn, have implications for what their work plan is and their milestones, and their annual budget, I would assume.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It certainly has implications, but I'm not sure that it really sounds into the revenue requirement.  It's not a resource allocation issue.

The derivation of the 500 per kilowatt standard I think is fair game, because it has to do with how this legislated piece of work was actually accomplished.

But I mean, we have to keep within scope.

MR. POCH:  Fair enough.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Or once we start to drift, we will drift very far from the shore.

MR. POCH:  That's fine, Mr. Chairman.  Just one other question.  This may be for the other panel.

I saw, and I gave you the summation of the performance of microFIT.  I don't know if Ms. Brand actually filed it.  I know she extracted, and we don't actually need to see the numbers, but there was a bi-weekly FIT and a microFIT report, so I assume there's a report card that comes out frequently on the FIT side as well.

Are there such report cards that come out frequently for your process -- rather, progress on the conservation side?

MR. FARMER:  The reporting is the accountability of the conservation group, so I would defer the question to them.

MR. POCH:  All right.  That's fine.  We can leave it to that.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Poch.

My list, my order, ended with Mr. Poch.  I don't know who's next.  We're all looking at Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We'll take our break around 3:00 o'clock or so, Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I should probably be finishing up around then.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  Good afternoon, panel.  I'd like to start with some follow-up questions, two or three, I believe, from stuff I've heard today already, just for clarity.

First of all, you discussed this morning with Mr. DeRose the issue of calculating or developing a total bill impact.  And if I can summarize the answer -- and you can tell me if I've summarized it fairly -- one, the OPA doesn't do that kind of calculation or forecast of what the total bill impact of all the moving parts of an energy bill will be, either generally or on a customer-specific basis.

Two, I think you agreed with him that you could do that, but you would require some kind of additional resourcing in order to do it.

But that, three -- and this is the word that stuck in my head -- you said you didn't think it would be particularly fruitful.

Is that a fair characterization of your answer?

MR. FARMER:  I think that summarizes the discussion.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And my follow-up question is this, with respect to the fruitful aspect of it.

I didn't understand, or maybe didn't get -- it wasn't clear to me by what you meant by that, in terms of whether or not it wouldn't be fruitful at all in any context or whether it as simply not fruitful from the perspective of the OPA in terms of what you do, and perhaps you could discuss that.

MR. FARMER:  I think what I was referring to in terms of whether it would be fruitful or not -- and, again, this is specific to the issue of whether we could generate views on what specific customers would be, whether they be industrial or residential, and where they be located, which is sort of the things that they vary by.

And I think what I was trying to say, in the context of integrated planning, I don't think that having that level of view would help us in assessing what resources are required to complete a plan.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.  So I think you're saying, or what I'm understanding you to say is, in connection with all the other things that the OPA does, it wouldn't actually move you one way or the other, the result of that kind of analysis; is that fair?

MR. FARMER:  I don't know if it's that absolute.  But I don't think it would change a lot if we knew specifically that level of information.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Would you accept that notwithstanding that, it may be a useful information in maybe other contexts related to energy?

MR. FARMER:  It certainly may.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And I think maybe -- and I'm not sure if you'll agree with this or not, but amongst all the entities out there in Ontario, wouldn't the OPA be one of the entities most equipped or potentially the most easy to transition into that role, if it were to be determined that that role was something that somebody should be doing on behalf of the province?

MR. FARMER:  I'm going to suggest that I don't know enough about which agency may be best placed to do that work.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  I'll leave it at that.

Second, Mr. DeRose -- in part of your conversation this morning with Mr. DeRose, the idea of a target level of budget came up, I think -- and I'm trying to recall the specifics.

In terms of a targeting of budget for the test year, the 2011 year, my understanding is that there was a target level, and that target level was, essentially, maintain the level equal to the past level, so I guess 2010 or 2009 level.  Do you remember that conversation?

MR. GABRIELE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I just wonder if I can get some more specifics on that, because, first of all, is that just that sort of a global level target or was it more specific than that?  Was there targets set by department or by strategic objective, for example?

MR. GABRIELE:  It was a global target.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And I'm trying to get a sense of how formal it is.  Is it that simple, Let's try and keep things flat relative to last year, or is there a more formal target-setting process going on behind the scenes that we don't know about?

MR. GABRIELE:  No, it is a more conversational level of target based on the circumstances of the province and everybody being aware of what our goals are and what the province's goals are going forward.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So it sounds more like something that you would keep in mind when you're approaching your budget?

MR. GABRIELE:  That would be correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.

All right.  Now, I just want to take you briefly to the directive that we've been talking about, and this is at page 2 of Mr. Poch's book of authorities -- or book of materials.  And I seem to have neglected to write down the exhibit number.  I think it's K1.3.

MR. CASS:  1.2.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I was one off.  Thank you.  And this is at page 2.

I just want to understand.  Really, I just want to understand how this would play out.  I'm looking at the last paragraph on the first page, where it says:

"The plan shall seek to exceed and accelerate the achievement of these CDM targets if this can be done in a manner that is feasible and cost-effective."

So I just want to go through this step by step.  First of all, can you tell me if the plan as it's -- in draft form or as it's contemplated will conclude that it is feasible and cost-effective to seek to exceed and accelerate the achievement that's in the directive?

MR. FARMER:  I can't tell you that at this time.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  But there are really only two possibilities.  Either it will or it won't; correct?

MR. FARMER:  I would say that's fair.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, presuming that it doesn't, then there wouldn't necessarily be concern at this point in time -- well, I shouldn't say it that way.

In terms of your resources to enable you to seek out this additional CDM, that would become really an issue for the IPSP, in the sense that until the IPSP process tells you that you're wrong, which is one of the outcomes in your assessment, that it isn't feasible and cost-effective to do that right now -- until that comes down, presumably you will be budgeting your -- or the OPA will be budgeting on the basis that you won't be doing any excess CDM.  Does that make sense?

MR. FARMER:  I'm going to suggest you should ask that question of the conservation panel.  The reason I'm steering it there is that the budgets that we're talking about partly are about seeking to exceed, because we have programs that are designed in such a way as that they could exceed the targets.  There are many things that have to be done that relate to the relationship with LDCs and the design of programs.

And I think at this juncture, a lot of the budgets that you're talking about are very practical, on-the-ground types of budgets.

Within the area that I'm accountable for in power system planning, we continue to do our assessments.  We continue to look at the projections coming out of the conservation group.  We continue to weigh the information that is available to us to generate a longer-term view as to whether it would be possible to seek to exceed.

But that's not really -- that's something we do within our normal staffing levels and our normal approach to planning.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Let me just see if I understood that.  The first part that I got from your answer is that, to the extent that there may be opportunity to feasibly and cost-effectively exceed the targets in the near term, that would largely impact the program budgets?

MR. FARMER:  I can't speak to what it would impact.  That's why I was deferring the question to the conservation group.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Well, thank you.  I'll leave it, then.  If I want to follow up, I'll follow up tomorrow afternoon, hopefully, or Thursday.  Thank you.

Now I'm going turn you to two exhibits which I'm going to be flipping between.  The first, which we've had up on the screen a few times, is Exhibit D, tab 2, schedule 1, page 9, table 4, which I'll pull up on the screen.

So this is the OPA full-time equivalent by strategic objective table, table number 4 on page 9 of the exhibit.

And then I'm going to be referencing the VECC IR No. 2, which is Exhibit I, tab 9, schedule 2, page 2.  So I'll just pull up...  So I'll be coming back to the VECC exhibit in a second.

Now, just as a starter, though, VECC IR number 1 talks about the 2010 audit results, and it basically says the 2010 audit actual results will be released with the OPA's - well, will be released shortly, I guess.

Can you confirm that the actual audited results, full stop, aren't on the record, or am I missing something?  I think I ask because parts of the answers I'm looking at are partial audited results.  So, for example, if we go Exhibit VECC IR 2, this is 2010 unaudited.

MR. GABRIELE:  The OPA's audited financial statements and annual report are posted on our website.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So at the time the interrogatory was answered, I don't think they were available, but you are saying they are available, not on the record, though.  They're on the Board's website?

MR. GABRIELE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  In the event that they're useful -- I guess they're only necessary if they deviate from the unaudited results that we have here.  Perhaps what we can do is just have them filed by way of undertaking, I guess, essentially, so that they're on the record, and then I can look to see if there's any significant difference; is that fair?

MR. GABRIELE:  Sure.

MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, I believe they have been filed in the evidence update.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I'm sorry.  I missed that, then.  Thank you.  I'm going to be flipping back and forth.

So starting with the Exhibit D, tab 2, schedule 1, page 9, table 4 cite, this shows the OPA FTEs by strategic objective for 2011 as budgeted, and then for 2010 as forecast; correct?

MR. GABRIELE:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then if we flip to VECC IR No. 2, this one shows the OPA FTEs by strategic objective, again, for 2011, as budgeted again, but then for 2010, it shows it in two forms, budgeted and unaudited actuals; correct?

MR. GABRIELE:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, for the budgeted 2010 figures, which is the first column there, I'm presuming those would have been prepared prior to 2010?

MR. GABRIELE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you tell me approximately when?

MR. GABRIELE:  Approximately June of 2009.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Then flipping back to the evidence, Exhibit D, tab 2, schedule 1, page 9, table 4, we have here for the 2010 forecast a different total FTE number than we did for the budget.

So first I want to ask, for the 2010 forecast, when was that prepared?

MR. GABRIELE:  The forecast would have been prepared in October/November timeframe.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Of 2009?  Or, sorry, 200 --

MR. GABRIELE:  2010.

MR. BUONAGURO:  2010, sorry.  Okay.  So about October or so of 2010, this was the updated forecast for 2010 relative to a budget figure which we have in the other table, which was prepared in mid-2009?

MR. GABRIELE:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

Now, then you'll -- perhaps you can see why I'm asking and what kind of discussion I want to have, briefly.

When you did the forecast, the total FTE count that you were anticipating for 2010 was 259, versus the budgeted number -- which was done midway, the year before 2010 -- was only 231; do you see that?

MR. GABRIELE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Could you briefly explain the driver for that difference?

MR. GABRIELE:  So the experience that we had with FIT and microFIT contributed some, and work on power system planning, I think, going into regional constrained area planning, contributed some.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Anything else?

MR. GABRIELE:  That would they would be the bulk of those.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And then looking at -- and I'm staying -- right now I have the VECC IR No. 2 on the page, 2011 budget figures, 253, which I think is consistent between the two exhibits; correct?

MR. GABRIELE:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then if I go -- what I'd like you to just briefly talk about is the fact that your 2010 forecast at the end of 2010 was 259 FTEs, and then it actually goes down in 2011 to 253.

I was wondering if you could explain why that would be the case.

MR. GABRIELE:  The OPA is committed to reducing its headcount by five percent over the 2011-2013 period.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So it's purely that?  You would have projected a level for 2010, and then we're going to shave off 5 percent?

MR. GABRIELE:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  It's that simple?  Nothing in particular to projects, or anything like that?

MR. GABRIELE:  No.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

And just lastly, actually -- and I'm going to be focussing on the VECC IR No. 2 -- and I think this may involve some of the footnotes.  And I'm not going to put the footnotes on the screen, but I think you probably have the interrogatory open in front of you.

We are trying to do the calculations or re-create the calculations for the average annual compensation per FTE.

So for example, you can see that at the end of 2010, you had a total compensation and benefits for the 2010 year of 29,128,000?  Do you see that under the "2010" column?

MR. GABRIELE:  Twenty-nine...

MR. BUONAGURO:  128.


MR. GABRIELE:  128?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  And at the same time, you had 231 FTEs for the same budget year?

MR. GABRIELE:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  We did an average of that, and we got 126,000, just a shade over 126,000 per FTE.

But you're showing an average of 123.8, and that signal to us that either we're doing the calculation wrong or you're doing the calculation wrong, or we're misreading the nature of some of the numbers.

So I was wondering if you could explain that.

MR. GABRIELE:  I'll have to do some analysis to determine the difference there.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I'll momentarily get an undertaking, if we don't figure it out in the next 30 seconds.

MR. GABRIELE:  All right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Perhaps -- let me see how we're going to attack this.

I noticed in the footnote -- and I'll pull it up here -- you're talking about the difference between the forecast and the budget FTEs for 2010, and you basically explain how the budget figure included 17 regular roles that were vacant for at least some of, if not all of, 2010.

Do you see that?

MR. GABRIELE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then you talk about the impact of those vacancies being reflected in the 2010 forecast for compensation results.

I would actually like to ask you this.  When you say that you have 231 FTEs in the actual -- or in the budget, is that assuming 231 full employees throughout the year?

MR. GABRIELE:  No, it does not.  It is full-time equivalent.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MR. GABRIELE:  So the OPA staffing levels can fluctuate through the year.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Mm-hmm.

MR. GABRIELE:  And so that's why we present it on a full-time equivalent basis.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So for example, if there's one person there who's only working there for two months and there's another one that's 10 months, that equals one FTE?

MR. GABRIELE:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And that's all accounted for in this table, is what you're telling me?

MR. GABRIELE:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  In all the columns?

MR. GABRIELE:  That's how it was done for all the columns, yeah.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So then I was incorrect.  I wasn't able to reconcile it in 30 seconds, so perhaps you can undertake to explain to me how the average compensation and benefits per FTE was calculated to reconcile what appears to be a difference in how we would approach it versus what's actually happened.

MR. GABRIELE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And that's with reference to VECC IR No. 2.

MR. MILLAR:  J1.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.5:  to EXPLAIN HOW AVERAGE COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS PER FTE WAS CALCULATED

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is that sufficiently clear, Mr. Gabriele?

MR. GABRIELE:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. GABRIELE:  I think I understand that one.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, just one last question, and this touches on something that Mr. Brett was asking about, and it had to do with reorganizing the FTEs.  And I ask because in this case, we have the FTEs by strategic objective, and I think you were asked to reorganize it by strategic initiative, which would have expanded the list of -- it wouldn't just have the five objectives, you would have multiples of projects; correct?

MR. GABRIELE:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Just -- and I think he commented on the fact that there's only approximately, in any particular year, there's somewhere between 230 and 250 FTEs around.

So that would involve splitting of those FTEs between the various initiatives, in terms of how they spend their time?

MR. GABRIELE:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Wouldn't there be a bulk or at least some of them which are simply dedicated to one initiative or another, as opposed to multiple initiatives, so that you could chip away at the number, at least initially?

MR. GABRIELE:  I believe that is correct.  I can't comment that it would be the bulk of them, but there would certainly be some individuals that would be working on one component or another throughout the year.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Okay.  I think I'll leave it to Mr. Brett, because I think he's going to follow up with that question on the conservation panel.

But just something to think about, because I thought that might be the case.

Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  We'll take our break and reconvene at 3:20.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 3:08 p.m.


--- On resuming at 3:28 p.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.

I think we're roughly on track to finish up no later than 4:30, and we will rise at 4:30.  Mr. Faye, are you next.

MR. FAYE:  Yes, sir.  I'm ready to go, Mr. Chair.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Faye:


MR. FAYE:  Panel, I'm going to ask just a few clarifying questions that we should move through rapidly, and the first one is concerning Energy Probe 2.  That's Exhibit I, tab 12, schedule 2.  Do you have that up?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  By the way, can I ask who is actually putting up these things?  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.  It's a considerable service.  There should be an honorarium of some kind.

MR. BUONAGURO:  This is the only chair that does that, sir.  That's why I sit here.

MR. FAYE:  That interrogatory asked you about the milestone in an exhibit concerning the electrification of "transit/vehicles", and I just have two quick questions.  When you say "transit/vehicles", do you mean transit vehicles or do you mean transit and other vehicles?

MR. FARMER:  Yes, in developing the load forecasts, I mentioned that we have started to consider transportation as a sector, and so some examples would be the electrification of transit.  So that's the GO Transit study, the expansion, perhaps, of TTC, and the other part of that is the electrification of vehicles for home and commercial use.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, that's how I did understand it.  I just wanted to be certain.

You've answered the question by saying, well, that falls outside the planning period here, or at least the 2011 period to which this case applies.

And I just wanted to ask if you have any money being spent either internally on staff studying things, or externally on consultants.  Is there any money in your 2011 budget to address this issue?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. FARMER:  Not relative -- I'm having difficulty in the context of a milestone.  We are, on ongoing basis, doing work to learn more about the future of the electrification of transportation, and so we do participate in various forums and there's staff resources that go to that.  There is Electric Mobility Canada, for example.  CSA are developing some standards.  And we have in the past been a member of a forum with the Cambridge Energy Research Associates on Driving the Future.

And we had committed to participate with Pollution Probe on a local study with Toronto Hydro to look at some adoption patterns within the city to see how it might impact the local distributor.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So when you say, in the response, "this revenue requirement", does that mean the 2011 revenue requirement?

MR. GABRIELE:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  "This revenue requirement submission is related to the first year of this plan."

I took that to mean that this kind of question was out of scope, but what I've just heard you say is that you're spending money on it right now.

MR. FARMER:  There is a small amount of internal resources being spent specifically on this issue.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Then would you answer the question that we posed in this IR?  Do you have any studies or reports, even preliminary stuff, that would shed some light on the scope of this kind of endeavour?

MR. FARMER:  We -- in a document that's been released for the IPSP - and it was released, I believe, this morning and is signaling the beginning of the consultation on the IPSP - there is some description and discussion on the electrification of transit and how that will play into the plan.

MR. FAYE:  Can we have that entered as evidence with an undertaking, then, please?

MR. FARMER:  It's part of the IPSP process, so I'm not sure of its role within this forum.

MR. FAYE:  Well, I think anything you're spending money on in the budget year here, 2011, is relevant to the proceeding.  And until we read the document, we don't know what that relevance is, but surely anything you're spending money on is relevant.

MR. CASS:  The difficulty we have, Mr. Chair, of course, is that there are two different proceedings that the OPA is involved in, generally speaking, one being the annual revenue requirement submission and the other being the Board's review of the IPSP.

Yes, planning is part of what is presented in the revenue requirement submission, but I don't think that that means that everything that goes on in a revenue requirement year for the purposes of the IPSP should therefore come into the revenue requirement case.

So I don't see the connection, myself, that would make it appropriate to bring those sorts of documents into this proceeding.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I wonder if the witnesses could simply provide information with respect to how much money and how many resources are actually being expended with respect to this activity, rather than the report, per se.

I would expect that the production of the report is either covered through the FTE burdens that are reflected in the application or the external resources, and I guess to your question, original question, Mr. Faye, you know, what is being dedicated or what is being spent on producing this information that is going to inform the IPSP, I think that's perfectly in scope.

Does that satisfy your inquiry, Mr. Faye?

MR. FAYE:  I think that does satisfy a large part of the inquiry.  It's useful to know how much money is being spent on this initiative.  But my colleague, Mr. Buonaguro, has just pulled this up on his computer screen and advises that on quick, cursory review, it doesn't appear to have a lot in there on transit or electrification of vehicles, other than some comments around how it might impact load forecast.

Is that sort of an accurate reflection of what that report would have in it?

MR. FARMER:  Yes, I think that would be a fair assessment of our work, is we're trying to consider how the electrification may play out and how it will impact load forecasts.

To be helpful, in terms of trying to estimate an FTE, it is difficult within the planning division to assign people very specifically into the initiatives, as was asked, because we are an organization that moves to do work in the IPSP.  We move to do work to assist in conservation, in planning conservation.

But in terms of the effort, we have somebody who a part of their job is to maintain a current view on how transportation is developing.  They participate in the CSA standards forum.  They participate in the Electric Mobility Canada.

When I was in the conservation integration role, I participated in the Cambridge Energy Research Associates stuff as a part of my job.

So, in total, it's probably in the order of less than one FTE to monitor the situation and project, and we do have some modelled projections of how that may influence demand.

In terms of expenditures, I believe the total expenditure plan for this may be less than $50,000, if I'm not mistaken, for the participating in a study.  I'm not sure that the study has yet initiated.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, that's fine.  If it's in that order of magnitude, that's all I was looking for.  And I will look that study up.  It doesn't sound like it has much that, you know, is that interesting to me.

The next one is Energy Probe 11, Exhibit I, tab 12, schedule 11.  You may not even have to pull this one up, because my question is a pretty general one.  This IR is about the Community Energy Fund and the Aboriginal Renewable Energy Fund.  And you've given grants, and it looks like those grants are applied to pre-engineering studies, feasibility-type stuff.

Is that a correct understanding of what those funds get used for?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  Sorry about that.  That is correct.  Those monies are available for sort of the upfront type of analysis work.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  So they don't get applied against the actual project construction, for instance, purchase of equipment, things of that nature?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  No, I think they're primarily aimed at facilitating getting involved in the programs.

MR. FAYE:  Is any part of that recoverable if a project actually goes into the point where you contract with them for energy?  Or is it just free money that's devoted to that useful purpose?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  I'm not sure I'd call it free money.

I think anyone that applies for any one of these funds has do a lot of work and due diligence to try to qualify for and compete for some of the money available for those activities.

MR. FAYE:  I didn't mean to be disparaging in the use of the term "free".  I meant they don't have to repay it.

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  It's not my understanding that they have to repay it, no.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  There's a reference in the evidence to this program being managed by Deloitte & Touche, and that that being required -- this is the Community Power Fund -- managed by Deloitte's, and -- with a subcontract, the Community Power Fund.

And I wonder about that being covered in a directive.  I don't really -- I can understand the government saying:  Here's what we would like you to do.  But is it common for them to tell you:  And here's how we would like you do it?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  I'm not sure if that's common or not.  I know that the fund was set up that way for various reasons, I think, to help provide some independence to the type of administration of those monies.

MR. FAYE:  Have you got an estimate of how much it costs for Deloitte to administer, and to engage the Community Power Fund to help administer?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  My colleague who manages that fund, I assume, has that.  I don't have it in if front of me here, but to the comments earlier about professional and consulting fees, those would be professional services acquired for the purposes of managing the fund, and we would certainly budget money for that for any consulting service.

MR. FAYE:  Is that elsewhere in the evidence?  Would I be able to find that specific thing?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  I'm not sure if that specific breakdown is in the evidence or not.

MR. FAYE:  What I'm looking for is, as a percentage of the fund, of these two funds, the community fund and the Aboriginal fund, as a percentage, how much does it cost for those two agencies, Deloitte and the Community Power Fund, to administer them?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  I'm not sure if there's any commercially sensitive information with respect to the contracts with either one of those parties with respect to administration of those funds.

MR. FAYE:  That's why I've asked for it in percentage terms, so that you're not revealing actual dollars and cents.  And it's aggregated.  I don't need it by each agency, just the total cost of administering each fund, hoping that that would not impinge on any confidentiality or proprietary information.

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  I acknowledge that.  I guess the question would be if there are only two companies and the amount of the fund is known, then it's pretty straightforward to calculate that back, so just with respect to maintaining confidentiality.

MR. OSMMERVILLE:  I think this is a subject the Board would be interested in, and would like to see the confidential undertaking to this effect.

Mr. Faye, would you just like to express for the record exactly what it is you want?

MR. FAYE:  Yes, Mr. Chair.

The cost of using Deloitte & Touche and the Community Power Fund to administer the community energy program and the Aboriginal Renewable Energy Fund.

MR. MILLAR:  J1.6.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And that's a confidential undertaking.

MR. MILLAR:  We'll call it JX1.6.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. JX1.6:  TO PROVIDE IN CONFIDENCE THE COST OF USING DELOITTE & TOUCHE AND THE COMMUNITY POWER FUND TO ADMINISTER THE COMMUNITY ENERGY PROGRAM AND THE ABORIGINAL RENEWABLE ENERGY FUND.

MR. FAYE:  Thank you for that.

The next one I'd like to ask you a few questions about is Energy Probe 12, Exhibit I, tab 12, schedule 12.

This one asked you about your efficiency metrics, and my colleagues have asked you some questions about the conservation section that you deferred to the conservation panel.

Are you able to answer questions about the generation metrics that follow that?  This would be on page 2 of the interrogatory response.

MR. GABRIELE:  I'll take the questions.  Please ask your questions.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  What I'm trying to do is understand how these efficiency metrics work, and so if we can confine our focus to the generation section, which is the last part of the chart on page 2, looking first at the "In-Service Capacity under Contract" line, and for 2011, that number is 14,583 megawatts.

And because it appears to be a subtotal of the above, am I right in concluding that that is the FIT, the microFIT programs, plus previous renewable programs?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. GABRIELE:  We'll take an undertaking to check that.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Thank you.  But was my question clear enough for that, or do you need it rephrased?

MR. GABRIELE:  No, your question is clear enough.

MR. MILLAR:  J1.7.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.7:  to CONFIRM WHETHER CHART ON PAGE 2 OF RESPONSE TO ENERGY PROBE INTERROGATORY NO. 12, EXHIBIT I, TAB 12, SCHEDULE 12, INCLUDES FIT, MICROFIT AND PREVIOUS RENEWABLE PROGRAMS.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Then looking at the progression of these numbers from 2008 to 2011, these are cumulative numbers I'm looking at; is that correct?

MR. GABRIELE:  That is correct.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  And would the same be true of all other generation contracted by the OPA, which is a few lines down?  Those are cumulative numbers as well?

MR. GABRIELE:  That is correct.

MR. FAYE:  Can you just give us a brief explanation of what the difference between all other generation and the in-service capacity is for -- the line that seems to summarize the renewable supply, and that you're going to check for me, versus all other generation contracted by the OPA, what's the difference between those two?

MR. GABRIELE:  All other generation would be the traditional generation supply contracts.

MR. FAYE:  Which are nuclear?

MR. GABRIELE:  Nuclear, gas, hydro, any others that we have under contract -- or not hydro; nuclear and gas.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Now, if we look at the 2011 "Budget" column, and going back to the in-service capacity under contract as an example, there's 14,583 megawatts listed there.

How do you arrive at -- is that number a target?

MR. GABRIELE:  That number would be the nameplate capacities.

MR. FAYE:  Of what you expect to have in-service at the end of 2011, under contract?

MR. GABRIELE:  It would be by project, and then summed up.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So

MR. GABRIELE:  Nameplate capacities?  Oh, by project, and then summed up, so...

MR. FAYE:  So once a project is in this total, it sort of stays there until the project is either withdrawn or the plant has seen its useful life and it's out of service; is that a fair understanding?

MR. GABRIELE:  A fair understanding, including the contract term, would be another checkpoint.

MR. FAYE:  But what would be your minimum contract term for projects in this category?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  Yeah, in terms of contract terms, the majority of the OPA contracts are for 20-year terms, although we do have select contracts that are either on 10-year terms or longer.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Thanks for that.

Right.  Where I'm heading with this is I don't really see how this is an efficiency metric.

Once the generation is contracted, and it is unlikely to escape that contract for the period of the contract, at least 10 years, more commonly 20, from what you just said, how does that get translated into efficiency by dividing it by the number of, say, FTEs that you have?  What's the efficiency implications of dividing the total power you've contracted by the number of people that you've got in your organization?

MR. GABRIELE:  What we are attempting to do at the OPA is to provide measures that are results-based and some, hopefully, in terms of the milestones and the results that we report on in terms of the activity-based, to give sort of a fulsome analysis of all of our activities and, from that, deduce the efficiency.

So this is just a component of how you would address efficiencies of the OPA.  So as our mandate is to build reliable and efficient supply, I would hope that the metric would show a continuing increase in the supply, as necessary.

MR. FAYE:  I can kind of see the logic there.  Your mandate is to get supply contracted, but dividing it by your number of staff -- let me ask you this.

If I look at the per FTE -- megawatts per FTE line, following that in-service capacity line, I see numbers that are increasing over the four-year period.

Does that mean that your efficiency is getting better?

MR. GABRIELE:  What it demonstrates is that the management of the contracts on a going-forward basis, as well as the delivery of supply, is happening at a reduced cost per FTE -- not cost, but a reduced consumption of FTE.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And I understand that.  The costs of putting this stuff under contract are, (a) the procuring costs - you have to write contracts, you have to advertise your programs - but once the contract is signed, what are the ongoing costs that contribute to the management of the contract?

MR. GABRIELE:  The OPA has a function of contract management that I believe is in the evidence, and this is the ongoing operation and monitoring of these contracts.  We do have to settle them, and we do have to monitor the operation of the supply in terms of -- for a couple of reasons.

One is if the supply decreased for any particular reason, we would need to know that for planning purposes and to action it, and we also need to continuously settle the contracts.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So there are some contract admin activities that go on for the length of the contract.  Once you've procured it, though, there's no more procurement costs; right?

MR. GABRIELE:  I believe that's correct.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So can we focus, then, in the group that does this, this work related to strategic objective number 3?  How many people are in the procurement part and how many people are in the contract admin part, of the 41 or so that appear to be in there?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  So for strategic objective 3 or the electricity resource department, there would be more employees in the contract management department than in the procurement department.

MR. FAYE:  And do you have a bit of a guess as to a number for each of those?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  Procurement, procurement would be just, again, off the top, in the sort of 20 to 25 range, and the majority, the remainder, would be in contract management.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  At some point, the OPA should reach its objectives of procurement.  Am I right in that, that sooner or later you're going to get enough stuff under contract here that you don't have to go out and get any more?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  Well, I think that with respect to certain procurement activities, we would expect that they would go sort of in waves.  So we would procure facilities, they would come into service, and perhaps there wouldn't be a need to procure that type of service in a short-term period; whereas another type of resource may come in.

So I think we see, at least on the procurement side, some sort of ups and downs in terms of workload with the procurement.  But to your point, once the procurement, a discrete procurement, has been completed, then we would not anticipate any other procurement activities with respect to that procurement.

MR. FAYE:  Where I'm going with this is, if we take the scenario where you decide you've got all the energy contracted you need, but let's say you add one more megawatt and you don't add any more staff, but you keep the staff you've got, then the metric would go up.  It would look like you're more efficient than you were last year, but you've only added 1 megawatt and you've kept the same staff.

But the staff that did the procurement aren't necessary anymore.  They're just sitting there doing nothing, because they didn't procure anything except 1 megawatt.

And I come back to:  How does that measure efficiency?  You look like you're still efficient because you're as efficient as last year, but you've got 20 staff sitting around doing nothing.

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  And to the question, I think that sort of ties into what was discussed earlier, especially with respect to professional and consulting services, and including legal consulting.  On the procurement side, we try to have permanent staff capable of handling the values, if you will, in terms of the procurement demand.

And when we have an increase in procurement demand activities, we would look to have contract employees or temporary employees to assist with some of that volume, as well as relying more heavily in those situations on external consulting to exactly avoid the situation that you mention.

So we would hope to reduce staffing at times when procurement activity is lower.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Can you pull up VECC 2, then?  That's Exhibit I, tab 9, schedule 2.  Do you have that up?  Look down in the third box down, the "Full-time equivalent staff" box, Strategic Objective No. 3.  In the 2010 budget, I see 41 regular and zero temporary or student staff.

I've got the right strategic objective, right?  That's the procurement and contract admin objective?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  Correct.  That's strategic 3.

MR. FAYE:  And you didn't have any -- didn't think that you needed any temporary or student in 2010, so you just had regular staff; is that right?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  I believe when the budget was filed in advance of 2010, that's how it was filed.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  And I think you told me that of the department, probably about 20 are engaged in procurement activities, and that would be 20 of that 41 figure right there; right?  That's half the department?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  No, I'm speaking now in terms of today, in 2011, not the 2010 budget.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So 20 out of 47, or 20 out of 55, whichever you'd like to choose there.  Maybe you're including temps and students there, too.  Is that right?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  No, because in 2011, there's eight temporary or student positions, and a significant volume of the FIT program application processing is being done by temporary employees for the very reason you mentioned, so that we can try to cope with the influx of volume.  So we've staffed up in that way.

MR. FAYE:  And so of the 47 regulars I see in that department in 2011, they're not heavily involved in the FIT program or the microFIT program?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  I'm not sure that the majority would be on a procurement perspective.  The other flip side, which is important to note, is that every time the OPA extends a contract offer, that contract then comes to our contract management shop, and that contract must be managed for 20 years.

So sort of as contracts get offered through procurement, the procurement activity related to that contract may conclude, but now the ongoing management of that contract shifts over to our contract management department for the life of the term of the contract.

MR. FAYE:  Yes, I understand that.  And I understood you to say earlier that there are more contract management people in this department than there are procurement people.  But even if I give you the eight temporaries and students, that still means that of the 20 that you estimated, there's 12 of them that are regulars.

And so, again, I come back to:  At some point, you should have contracted almost everything you need for some foreseeable period of time, but your efficiency metric doesn't change.  You keep the same staff and you look just as efficient as you did when you actually did have to procure something.

So I'm wondering, breaking your efficiency metric down like this, what does it mean?  If you can't look bad, how do you know when you should do something, that there's guys out there not doing any work and you ought to lay them off?

MR. GABRIELE:  Certainly we agree with that, and we have a target to reduce our full-time equivalents by 5 percent over the planning period.

But I would also comment that our procurements do come in waves, as is mentioned, and we do have procurements on the horizon that are significant to the system, that we will be negotiating or be involved in, as well as the contract management for FIT, microFIT and the contract management of the larger producers.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And just before we leave that subject, temporary and student employees are handling some of this work, are they?

MR. GABRIELE:  That is correct.

MR. FAYE:  So are these highly qualified temporary and student workers, or are they just your average temporary and student workers?

MR. GABRIELE:  Well, the level of work that they are handling is matched to their qualifications.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  So the more difficult tasks are still handled by your regular employees?

MR. GABRIELE:  Or more trained individuals.

MR. FAYE:  Is there another group here?  There's the temporary, the two --

MR. GABRIELE:  Well, some of the temporary folks may have come in with higher qualifications.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I think I have got on the record what I would like to there.  But I'll come back one more time to my understanding of efficiency, and that is that it's got to work both ways.

Your system has got to be able to tell you whether you're efficient or not efficient; am I wrong in that?

MR. GABRIELE:  No, that is correct.  And we look to our milestones and our results reporting to provide us the feedback on that level of -- or that direction.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So maybe this efficiency metric isn't really about efficiency; is that a fair conclusion?

MR. GABRIELE:  It does, in combination with all of the other measures that we have submitted.  So it does provide an element of direction, I guess, to readers of the evidence.

MR. FAYE:  Then I'll make one more suggestion to you.

It sounds to me that your real activity here is in procuring things and managing the contracts.

Would it not be better to measure your efficiency by how many people or how many dollars it costs to manage the contracts you have on an ongoing basis, and that between years, you would be able to compare whether your costs per contract were going up or going down, and make some conclusion, take some actions, to remedy situations, or congratulate yourself if you're doing really well?

Isn't that a better efficiency measure than this one here?

MR. GABRIELE:  That certainly sounds like an interesting one for us to review and understand.  Yeah.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I'm going to leave that, and I have just one more clarification question.  This is on Energy Probe 13.

Here we asked you about an apparent inconsistency in the evidence, where regular staffing was remaining constant between 2010 and 2011, but the costs were going up by 6.7 percent.  And we asked for an explanation of that.

And the explanation, after you broke it down in the part (a) response, part (b) says:

"The 2011 budget adds some regular roles, as well as a change in the mix of roles between the two years."

But my reading was that you had 235 at the end of 2010, and you're going to have 235 regulars throughout 2011.  So I'm a little bit lost as to if there were regular roles added in 2011, why don't you have more than 235 there.

MR. GABRIELE:  It is more to do with the change in the duties and responsibilities and natural progression through -- through -- I guess through experience.

MR. FAYE:  That's -- how does that translate into adding regular roles?  Does that not mean adding regular staff?

MR. GABRIELE:  No, that is correct.  There are some additional folks in electricity resources, but there are decreases in...

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So there's an offset somewhere else.

MR. GABRIELE:  Right.

MR. FAYE:  And so, then, coming back to the question we asked you, is 6.7 the amount of compensation increase on salaries and benefits that you're giving your staff for this year?

MR. GABRIELE:  No.  As I mentioned, that has to do with progression within roles, as opposed to an average compensation increase.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  So some people are stepping up the salary grade because they're achieving --


MR. GABRIELE:  That is correct.

MR. FAYE:  -- competencies?

And then others, is there a flat salary increase that your staff will be receiving?

MR. GABRIELE:  No.  The OPA only has merit increase; there is no inflationary increase provided to any employees.

MR. FAYE:  Really?  That's an interesting concept that will apply to LDCs.

[Laughter]

MR. FAYE:  I think that concludes my questioning, Mr. Chair.  Thank you, panel.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  As long as it doesn't apply to lawyers.

[Laughter]

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Rubenstein, I understood you to have no questions.  Thank you.

Mr. Gardner?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Gardner:

MR. GARDNER:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I'll try to be brief.  I know this is the last set of questions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We are right down to the nub of it, so...

MR. GARDNER:  Okay.  Okay.  I think I can squeeze it in, hopefully, in 20, so we might get out early.  I'll do my best.

On behalf of LIEN, I have questions mostly relating to, I guess, their strategic objectives one, four and five, and then I'm going to get into measuring and tracking -- I think I'm going to embed those questions from, I guess, what would be number six into those other categories.  But for the most part my questions revolve around stakeholder consultation processes and transparency.

So there's a term that the OPA uses in one of its 2011 milestones -- or initiatives, I guess it is, rather, regarding undertaking activities that optimize two-way communication with key stakeholder groups and the public.  And that's at Exhibit B, tab 5, page 2.

So essentially what we're wondering is, first, can you give us a definition of what you presume is a key stakeholder versus a regular stakeholder?

MR. GABRIELE:  Key stakeholders would be government, industry and consumers.

MR. GARDNER:  And so where can an interested party, potentially a key stakeholder, find out whether they would be potentially a key stakeholder?  Where is this information available?  Is it on a website?  I mean, what's the process for, let's say, a consumer group?

MR. GABRIELE:  Well, I suppose if they don't find the information they're looking for on our website or through any of the published materials, they could contact the OPA directly.

MR. GARDNER:  And the OPA would, in turn, be willing to supply what information they have to help facilitate that process for the consumer group?

MR. GABRIELE:  If it's an appropriate level of disclosure, certainly.

MR. GARDNER:  Thank you.

And would you say that within the low-income sector, would that be a possibility?  Would there be a potential for -- relating to the low-income program and the consumer residential program, is there a room for a low-income stakeholder to do that, to engage the OPA by way of letter or what have you?

MR. GABRIELE:  I believe there is.  We do have a call centre that takes a significant number of calls.

MR. GARDNER:  Okay.

MR. GABRIELE:  On a daily basis.

MR. GARDNER:  Call centre.  Okay.

Any other platforms from which --


MR. GABRIELE:  We have our parties that assist us in - and I guess I'm getting into conservation - but parties that assist us in program rollouts that represent or are representative of low-income groups.

MR. GARDNER:  Right.  Okay.

I'm not sure if this is an appropriate question or not; I'll let you decide.

But do you know if you -- do you have a budget for the consultation process for the IPSP that's beginning on May 17th?

And I think, Mr. Farmer, you said it's continuing in five or six stages.  Do you have a budget for -- per stakeholder?

MR. FARMER:  Not -- not that I'm actually aware of.

There is a budget to facilitate stakeholder engagement, and there are details on how that is made available to stakeholders on our website; and just follow the link from the e-mail blast and it should take you to the IPSP site that's being set up.

I believe there is a budget for IPSP stakeholdering in total.  I don't actually know specifically what that is.

MR. GARDNER:  Okay.  Would you be willing to find that out?

MR. GABRIELE:  Yes.

MR. GARDNER:  Okay.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Sorry, what's the undertaking that's being sought here?

MR. GARDNER:  The overall -- well, I suppose -- yeah, the information on the per-participant or stakeholder level is available on the website; am I correct?

MR. GABRIELE:  Yes.

MR. GARDNER:  Okay.  So the total budget for consultation for stakeholders for this IPSP.

MR. MILLAR:  J1.8.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.8:  TO PROVIDE TOTAL BUDGET FOR CONSULTATION FOR STAKEHOLDERS FOR IPSP.

MR. GARDNER:  This is just touching on what I think Mr. Brett spoke to this morning about -- and this is relating to issue one or strategic objective 1, the longer-term conservation potential assessments and forecasts.  I guess they're related.

Do you know what the dates are for the most current versions of those?

MR. FARMER:  If by longer-term assessments you mean the last published studies, if I can call them that, those would have been made public in the IPSP, which was filed in around 2007.  They have been basically updated by using program experience and in conversations with our conservation group in the time since.

MR. GARDNER:  Okay, thank you.  And is there any sort of a stakeholder review or consultation process for these forecasts in these assessments?

MR. FARMER:  One of the sessions that is planned - and the dates haven't been finalized, unless they've been finalized while we've been here today - is to review the conservation plan, where there will be a discussion of the plan to meet the directive, and the discussion of whether it is feasible and cost-effective to exceed.

MR. GARDNER:  Okay, thank you.

Now, turning to -- I have a series of questions related to specific types of integrated plans.  So the integrated regional plan and the integrated local area plan, I believe they're called.

They can be found at tab 1, page 4, which is -- and then initiative 5 within Exhibit B.

I think my first question is, basically:  What is the general duration for each of those types of plans, the integrated local area plan and the regional plan?

MR. FARMER:  There isn't actually a common timeline for -- and I don't differentiate that much, local area and regional.

MR. GARDNER:  Okay.

MR. FARMER:  They're really self-defining by their common purpose, their need, whether one local area is impacting another.  And I know that there are some considerations of regional planning starting up at the board.

But they don't have -- they really depend on the timeline to assess the regional situation in an integrated way, and the timeline for the solution to be developed and implemented.  So some may be quite brief, and some may be sort of more along the lines of an Integrated Power System Plan that is 20 years.  It really depends on the specific situation.

MR. GARDNER:  So, in general, a ballpark of three to five years, much the same as --


MR. FARMER:  I hate to have a ballpark of five to 20, but it could be five to 20.

MR. GARDNER:  Okay, that's helpful.  Thank you.

And then I think I want to distinguish - and this is more for my clarification - these plans from the electricity service plan that you referred to in -- you call it a long-term electricity service plan in, again, Exhibit B, schedule 1, tab 1, page 5.

Can you distinguish this plan from the other two?

MR. FARMER:  I'm a little unclear on the question.  Could I get you to reframe...

MR. GARDNER:  I'm just wondering, the electricity service plan that you reference in the material that I just provided the information for, is that different from -- and how so, from the integrated local and regional plans?

MR. FARMER:  So there are multiple levels of plans.  And the Integrated Power System Plan, which is the total electricity service plan for Ontario, when talking in a transmission context, primarily a bulk system consideration.  Then there are regional and local area plans that address specific issues that are regional.

MR. GARDNER:  And then where does the electricity -- long-term electricity service plan, is that basically -- are you referring to the IPSP again?

MR. FARMER:  I believe the reference is to the IPSP.

MR. GARDNER:  Okay, thank you.

You mentioned -- I know one of your 2010 milestones was basically determining what the relationship with OPA and First Nations/Metis communities was, and whether it was reasonable and appropriate.  So I'm trying to link that to your milestones and your initiatives for 2011.

And I believe they -- that's kind of carried on through a number of initiatives, particularly under strategic initiative 5 at Exhibit B, again, tab 4, page 16, and also in your business plan at page 31 under business strategies and solutions.  I'll pinpoint that first.

There's a list of three enumerated bullets there, and the first item under the business plan on page 31 - that's where I'm at - can you confirm that the OPA takes a customer-focussed orientation for its internal customers?

MR. FARMER:  Could I ask for the page reference again?  I'm sorry.

MR. GARDNER:  Page 31, I believe, if I've got that right.

MR. FARMER:  Of the business plan?

MR. GARDNER:  That's right.  There are three enumerated points near the bottom of the page.  The first is the one I'm referring to.

MR. FARMER:  And so your question is relative to the role of business strategies and solutions:
"To support customer-focussed orientation by developing value-added partnerships and collaboration across the OPA's business units."


MR. GARDNER:  Correct, and I'm trying to apply that to sort of -- if you can explain what the differences between -- or whether -- how you focus your customer orientation for internal customers versus external.

MR. GABRIELE:  Customer focus internally, which I can speak to, has do with business strategies and solutions working to create efficiencies and administrative processes, and in procedures and transactional processes, to remove an administrative burden from the operating units, so provide more time and focus on operations.

MR. GARDNER:  Okay.  So based on that -- so you have these active sort of relationships.  Are you still in 2011 trying to maintain these relationships, and, in particular -- for internal and external customers, and in particular for First Nation and Metis groups?  Would you say that's part of your mandate or part of your initiative?

MR. FARMER:  I think I would say I think it's important to separate these two things and not try to mash them together.  One is a business unit that supports the work of, for want of a better word, the line functions, the planning and procurement groups.  And so their perception of customers is an internal perception.

MR. GARDNER:  Right.

MR. FARMER:  And they don't participate in the external work of the line groups to that extent.  They certainly support -- you know, they're helping set up stakeholdering engagement, for example, but they're not there...

In terms of -- I wasn't sure if you were asking, though, in terms of the First Nation and Metis people.  If you are, we have been working with the First Nation and Metis people.  There is a northern planning council.  I'm going to get the name of that council wrong, but the OPA does participate with that, and they have been developing views and plans for the service of northwestern communities.  And so I think that would be an example of how we work with the local communities.

MR. GARDNER:  Okay, that's very helpful.  That was a convoluted way to get to that point.  Thank you.

So any other sort of groups that you engage, or protocols or guidelines that you have at your disposal, that you work through to enhance this positive relationship that you have with Aboriginal groups?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Gardner, could you bring that to the revenue requirement aspect for me, please?

MR. GARDNER:  Sure.  I think -- okay.  Essentially what we're wondering is how you measure and track these relationships, and how you make it transparent for those groups.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. GABRIELE:  We don't have any direct metrics involved with conferring with First Nations and Metis peoples.

But we do have, as we said, the Aboriginal council, we have the Aboriginal community energy partnership program, and we do engage with them in terms of -- as Chuck was mentioning -- in terms of the power system planning, any transmission or development prospects in their regions.

MR. GARDNER:  Okay.  That's helpful.  Thank you.

This is more of a general question, and you probably have answered it already, but if -- just bear with me.

From an organizational capacity perspective, dealing with residential customers, how does the OPA essentially measure, just for residential consumers, its performance toward achieving the relationship that it has with these stakeholder groups within the residential community?

This is a much broader question, but...

[Witness panel confers]

MR. FARMER:  Our confusion is in finding, beyond the conservation group, many examples of where we actually deal directly with residential consumers in our activities.

Certainly the conservation group is quite active in that sense, and might be able to give you some clarity.

When we do regional planning and local area planning, we're often dealing with LDCs and municipalities, elected officials, and we would be dealing with customers, I suppose, through them.  But not directly, typically, with the customers themselves.

MR. GARDNER:  So I'll ask that from the conservation panel.  Thank you.

That might be all my questions.  I just want to make sure.  Sorry.

I guess my last line of questions should be brief.

Again, in your Exhibit B, tab 5, this is initiative three, at page 4, you said that you hope to raise public awareness of OPA's role, responsibilities and contribution through brand development and community engagement strategies.

So with respect to this initiative, which residential communities is the OPA sort of targeting or identifying for addressing this initiative?  Have you broken it down to that level?

MR. FARMER:  Could I ask you to repeat the page reference, please?

MR. GARDNER:  It's page 4, initiative three, at tab 5.

MR. FARMER:  Of which exhibit?

MR. GARDNER:  B.

MR. FARMER:  So Exhibit B, tab 5?

MR. GARDNER:  Right.  That's correct.

MR. FARMER:  Schedule 1?

MR. GARDNER:  Right.

MR. FARMER:  Page 4?  Okay.  I have it, yeah.

MR. GABRIELE:  Okay.  If you could repeat the question, please?

MR. GARDNER:  The question is:  What residential communities has the OPA identified for addressing this initiative?

MR. GABRIELE:  I don't believe we've specifically identified communities.  This is more broader-reaching.

MR. GARDNER:  Okay?

MR. GABRIELE:  So this particular initiative is around raising the OPA's message to facilitate operations, so making sure that people know who we are and what we do, so that they know where to go to ask questions.

MR. GARDNER:  Okay.  So it covers all communities.  You think this is an outlet through which all communities have access?

MR. GABRIELE:  Potentially could participate, yeah.

MR. GARDNER:  Okay.  And you haven't performed any sort of metrics, measuring and tracking on this particular initiative?

MR. GABRIELE:  Well, I would say that we have this -- we have a power pledge program that we do get a lot of feedback on, in terms of awareness of the OPA, an awareness of conservation, an awareness of our other operations.

So that is one of the tools that we use to understand where we stand in people's awareness of the OPA and our operations.

MR. GARDNER:  And power pledge, where is that again?  I know that there is reference; it's just not in my notes.  Can you find it for me?  I know it's in the evidence in Exhibit B.

MR. GABRIELE:  It's in the evidence, and it should be in this section, actually.

MR. GARDNER:  Oh, it's on the next page.  Okay.  Initiative four.

And do you know which communities you've specifically targeted?

MR. GABRIELE:  Power pledge is province-wide.  It's open to all communities.  And we have a community component in that.

MR. GARDNER:  Okay.  Okay.  Those are my questions.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

Mr. Millar?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I'd like to begin by referring to a chart that I've prepared.  I've given copies to Mr. Cass, who I believe has provided them to the witness.  I have copies for the Panel.

This is a chart comparing the as-filed numbers in the application versus those that appear in the update, which I think was filed on March 28th.

I've prepared this chart myself.  You can see it's a homely piece of work, but I think it does nothing more than reproduce the numbers from the application, except in a few areas where I wanted some clarification.

So I'd propose to go through this very quickly with the witnesses.  If necessary, perhaps they could felt out by way of undertaking, but I'm hoping we can do it in about two minutes right now.

Do you have that document?  We'll call it Exhibit K1.3 for the record.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  CHART COMPARING AS-FILED NUMBERS IN THE APPLICATION VERSUS THOSE IN THE UPDATE FILED ON MARCH 28TH.

MR. MILLAR:  And you'll see the left column, I have the as-filed numbers.

And just to walk through it very quickly, we've got the energy forecast of 142.9 terawatt-hours.  You back out the loss, add in the exports, to get total energy of 156.2 terawatt-hours.

Then we have the as-filed revenue requirements, and you do the numbers and you get a fee of $0.523 cents -- pardon me, dollars per megawatt-hour.

And then if you want apples-to-apples comparison with the previous application, where there were no export numbers involved, it was 0.5713 dollars.

Do you see that?

MR. GABRIELE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And is that correct?  Subject to check?

MR. GABRIELE:  I will accept it as correct, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

Now, for the update, you provided us with some of those numbers in the update, but I have some question marks where I want to be sure I've got the numbers right.

So I believe in the update, you provided us with the total energy number, which I have as 153.5 terawatt-hours; is that correct?

MR. GABRIELE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And then a new revenue requirement, which is about a million dollars less than the as-filed; is that correct?

MR. GABRIELE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And the reason for that reduction is, without getting into the details, a change in a variance account balance; is that right?

MR. GABRIELE:  Well, it's a change in the results that affected the variance account balance.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And then the overall fee in the update is 0.514 dollars per megawatt-hour; is that correct?

MR. GABRIELE:  Sorry, I don't see it on the page here.

MR. MILLAR:  Oh, I'm sorry.  It's -- I neglected to put it in there, but could you confirm that that's the case?  My apologies, it didn't --


MR. GABRIELE:  Subject to change, I guess.  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Subject to check, and I've taken these numbers directly from your update.

I apologize.  You're right, it's not there.

The numbers I want to get confirmation are -- have question marks beside them.  And these numbers have been reverse-engineered, in a sense.  You have them in front of you.

Are you able to confirm for me now that I have those numbers correct?

MR. GABRIELE:  I cannot confirm.  I'll have to check them.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Could you take an undertaking to do that, please?

MR. GABRIELE:  Sure.

MR. MILLAR:  And that will be Undertaking J1.9, and it is to complete the chart in Exhibit K1.3 and confirm or alter the numbers as necessary.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.9:  TO COMPLETE THE CHART IN EXHIBIT K1.3 AND CONFIRM OR ALTER THE NUMBERS AS NECESSARY.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that.

I have questions in four areas, but I think for three of them it should be two minutes or less, and hopefully the other one won't be all that long either.

There were some questions about the economic connection test, and I don't plan to go through those in any detail, but I am looking for a status update.

Last we heard, I guess it was the parties' understanding that we wouldn't have an ECT before March 2011.  And I guess you've been good to your word, because we don't have it and it's past March 2011.  Do you have an update on when that test might be finalized, if that's the correct word?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  We don't currently have an update on a revised date for launching the ECT at this point.

MR. MILLAR:  Can I ask if we're talking six months, a year, one month?  Can you give any indication whatsoever as to when?  Will it be in the planning period, for example, the year for which the revenue requirement covers?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  I would anticipate that it would be in the planning period, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So less than a year?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  Yes, that would be my anticipation.

MR. MILLAR:  Less than six months?  If you can't answer, that's fine.  I'm just doing my best to get a handle on how long we're talking.

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  I would anticipate it would be within six months, as well.

MR. MILLAR:  I won't press you further.

Could I ask you to turn to Board Staff Interrogatory 14?  Some questions with respect to the pricing for microFIT solar projects.  And if I've got the wrong panel, of course I'll trust you to tell me.

Before getting directly to the question, I just want to make sure I have the history of the pricing for this particular element correct.

I understand that originally I'm not sure you'd actually broken out between solar and ground-mounted microFIT pricing, but the original pricing was 80.2 cents per kilowatt-hour; is that correct?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  That's correct.  The original solar PV price was 80.2 cents.

MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, the original solar...?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  Solar PV, photovoltaic.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  I'm not sure if the program description was altered, but it was recognized at a subsequent time that this would apply to both rooftop and ground-mounted solar; is that correct?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And initially the price was going to be the same for both, 80.2 cents?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  That's correct.  And the reason behind that is that when the program was launched, it was anticipated that the majority of the solar PV projects would correspond to rooftop.

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  So, yes, the pricing for solar PV projects was set at 80.2 cents, and that was in anticipation that the majority of solar PV projects would correspond to rooftop installations.  So that's why the price was set at that value.

MR. MILLAR:  And as it happened, that's not how it turned out; is that correct?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  That is correct.  As the program launched and applications were received, it became apparent that a significant portion of the solar PV projects correlated to ground-mount installations.

MR. MILLAR:  And in response to that, I take it in July 2010, you revised the price for ground-mounted solar; is that correct?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  That's correct.  The price category for ground-mount solar PV installations was presented in July.

MR. MILLAR:  And that was 58.8 cents in July 2010?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  That is correct, as referenced in the interrogatory 14.

MR. MILLAR:  And then about a little more than a month later, five, six weeks later, you adjusted -- sorry, just on the 58.8 cents, that amount was not to be grandfathered; is that correct?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  As proposed, that is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And then in August, you made a further amendment.  You upped the price slightly to 64.2 cents; is that correct?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And this price would be grandfathered.  In other words, if you applied before July, you would get the 80 cents; is that right?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And then if you applied after July, you would get the 64.2 cents?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So we asked you some questions about this.  The first is Board Staff 14(a).  It had asked what your original expectations were with respect to solar, and I suppose, in particular, ground-mounted solar.

Your response -- and I don't want to put words in your mouth, but if I can paraphrase it, it was essentially that these are proponent-driven projects and you didn't really have an expectation as to how many applications you would be receiving.  Have I paraphrased that correctly?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  It's correct.  We didn't have a specific target number of applicants we anticipated receiving, but, as I mentioned, we did anticipate that the majority of the solar PV projects would be roof-mounted type systems.

MR. MILLAR:  Why did you assume that?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  That was based on information from other jurisdictions and the experience that they had had with solar PV.

MR. MILLAR:  And just so it's clear for the record, the reason why it's important whether it's solar or ground mounted is because ground-mounted installations tend to be larger.  That is the distinction?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  I think there are two important distinctions.  I think a typical rooftop cannot typically accommodate the size of a generating capacity that you can with a ground-mount system.  And, as well, the ground-mount systems are able to, if they so choose, employ a tracking system to increase their capacity factors.

MR. MILLAR:  And that's whereby it turns to face the sun; is that right?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  Yes.  There are basically some sensors and motors that position the panels to optimize the sun.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, when it was determined that the microFIT solar program would allow both rooftop and ground mounted, was there any specific analysis done on what portion would be on ground mounted versus rooftop?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  During program design, again, based on the experience we had gleaned from other jurisdictions, we anticipated that the majority would be based on rooftop.  And certainly the interest that we're seeing today in ground-mount solar wasn't evident or present at that point.

MR. MILLAR:  Had you done any analysis on what pricing differences -- and I'm talking before you switched the price or when you originally set the price, let me put it that way -- any analysis on what different pricing might be appropriate for solar versus ground mount?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  Sorry, I'd like to clarify that both situations we're referring to are both for solar.  So whether it's rooftop PV or ground mount, just we're referring to solar in both situations.

MR. MILLAR:  Understood.

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  So when the proposed price was put forth in July, that was an attempt to try to strike a balance between cost plus reasonable rate of return for the developer, as well as manage the impacts on Ontario ratepayers.

So that was the price proposed to try to fairly address the balance between those two competing objectives.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I don't want to harp on this, but you recognize -- did you recognize when you set the 80-cent price that there might be differences in the costs plus reasonable return standard as applied to rooftop versus ground mounted?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  I think that we'd recognized that there would be differences in expectations.  I don't think we anticipated at the time just the level of interest in a ground-mount system.  It was certainly perceived that the uptake would be focussed on roofs and that ground-mount installations would certainly be a very minor part of those applications.

MR. MILLAR:  To be clear, I'm not asking about the uptake.  I'm asking:  Did you recognize that there would be -- that the cost plus reasonable return amount - the number, in other words - would be different for rooftop than for ground mount?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  I think that we recognized they'd be different.  I'm not sure we anticipated that the size of the arrays and the complexity of the tracking systems would make the differences as great as they became.

MR. MILLAR:  In Board Staff 14(b), you discuss the relative size of the project capacity for ground mount.  I think the average came in at about 8.5 kilowatts; is that correct?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  Yes, correct, as per our response.

MR. MILLAR:  So at what point in time did you realize that you were going to have to look at separating the price for these?  The actual -- the first change occurred in July.  At what point did you realize that this was going to become necessary?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  I think with the program launch and focussing primarily, first of all, on getting the program up and running and being able to receive -- receive applications, we were very happy the kind of application volume we had.  I think as, you know, a few months transpired, and as we were able -- it's very hard to trend with a point or two, but as we had more points to trend, we saw that that average size was trending up above what we had anticipated for rooftop.  And with a larger subset, that average was pushing higher as more points came in.

MR. MILLAR:  I think my question was:  When did you determine that a new price would be appropriate?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  I think we anticipated, certainly in the early part of 2010, that the sizes of the projects were getting larger, and leading up in advance of the July announcement, we had done some analysis on what the appropriate cost and reasonable rate of return would be for these ground-mount systems that sort of were becoming apparent.

So in advance of, obviously, publishing that change, or proposed change.

MR. MILLAR:  Was there any indication to the public prior to the announcement in July that there would be a change in the price for ground-mount?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  There was not any notification that I'm aware of.

MR. MILLAR:  And why not?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  I think one of the challenges there was to make sure that we had a very clear delineation date with respect to fairly process applications.

So what we would want to avoid is sort of a rush of applications trying to get in or under a certain deadline.  So we published the alternate pricing as a proposed change, but on the date of publishing, that allowed us to set a clear mark, by which we would then evaluate applications.

So that's why that was done.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  In the interests of time, I'm going to move to my -- it's still on this topic, but my next question.

If I could ask you to turn to Board Staff 14(d), and this asked you to describe your original expectations with regard to the other FIT and microFIT programs.

You'll see, if you flip to the next page, you refer us to your response in (a), which was essentially -- again, without putting words in your mouth -- that that was proponent-driven, so you didn't have specific targets, if I can put it that way; is that correct?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  Yeah.  There were no specific volume targets for either FIT or microFIT, for applications.

MR. MILLAR:  So is that correct, then, you would have no –- I don't want to say anticipation, but no targets or no expectations for how many people would sign up for any of these programs?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  I think we had -- at least with the FIT program, we anticipated that the initial launch phase, we would see a sort of increased amount of activity, as there were sort of certain advantages in applying during launch period.

And then we anticipated that following launch, that application volume would decrease.  You know, there had been a lot of discussion throughout 2009 about the Green Energy Act and about the FIT program, and I think we reasonably thought there was some pent-up demand, and that once the programs officially launched, we'd see a large swing in uptake in volumes, and that when some of that pent-up demand had subsided, that we'd expect them to taper off a little bit, sort of qualitatively.

MR. MILLAR:  But no targets?  Even soft targets?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  No specific targets, no.

MR. MILLAR:  Absent having targets, how do you know if the price is too high?

For example, how do you know if there's too much uptake?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  So this is one of the reasons why there was a program review concept built into the program, such that we'd have the ability, at least every two years, to examine any and all aspects of the FIT program, specifically including price, to determine if changes were required.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, we didn't get to two years for the ground-mounted solar; is that correct?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  I guess without having set targets, how do we know that you're not over -- I don't want to say overachieving, but I think the fair way to describe what happened with ground-mounted solar is in hindsight, you decided the price was too high for that; is that correct?


MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  I think in the case of ground-mounted, it provided a rate of return that we thought was more than -- was above reasonable, and that that needed to be adjusted so that it was a reasonable rate for those projects.

MR. MILLAR:  And you determined that because you had way more application -- I don't want to say than you anticipated – well, I guess more than you anticipated, even though you didn't have a target?

MR. CRONKWRIGHT:  I think in the case of ground-mount, it was more not a volume of applications, but the applications related to a technology that we didn't anticipate receiving.

So that perhaps makes it more unique than the others, in that we didn't anticipate receiving a significant volume of ground-mount applications, yet a significant amount of that specific stream came forward.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, I'll leave it at that.  Thank you.

My next question is on Board Staff 24.  And I'm not even sure you need to turn these up, because at some...

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just a moment, Mr. Millar.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I'm sorry.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Gabriele, if you want to absent yourself at this point, you're free to do so.

MR. GABRIELE:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, if I may, I have one very quick question which I think may be directed to Mr. Gabriele.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.

MR. CASS:  I had one re-examination area that I think I may need Mr. Gabriele for too.  Sorry.

MR. MILLAR:  I should be done in about three minutes in total.  So let me speak quickly.

I have a question about -- with respect to the directives you received from the OPA -- pardon me, from the Minister, and when they're posted on your website, because I know that some people have had some -- I don't want to say trouble with that, but some questions about when those are available and when they're posted.

So very quickly, once you receive a directive, I understand you post it on your website; is that correct?

MR. GABRIELE:  Generally correct.  However, there is a short period of clarification.

MR. MILLAR:  What do you mean by that?

MR. GABRIELE:  Making sure that we understand completely what the directive is about.

MR. MILLAR:  So how long, typically, would it be from the time you would receive a directive until it's posted?

MR. GABRIELE:  It would be inside a week, I'm fairly sure, although I don't have any measures of that.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Would there have been instances where it was more than about a week?

MR. GABRIELE:  I would think so, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And what would have caused that?

MR. GABRIELE:  I think availability of individuals.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you take any steps other than -- I know the directives get posted on a sub-page on the web page.

Do you have anything like a "What's New" or any other communication to stakeholders that would advise them that a directive has been posted?  Or do they have to sort of just check the sub-pages on the web page?

MR. GABRIELE:  I'm not personally aware of any communication vehicle that we have to notify everyone of a directive.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

A final question.  There had been a number of questions about efficiency.  They have taken most of my questions, but one final area.

Are any areas of compensation - by which I would mean incentive pay or bonus pay - is any of that tied to the efficiency metrics?

MR. GABRIELE:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  No, none at all?

MR. GABRIELE:  None.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  Thank you, those are my questions.
Questions by the Board:


MS. TAYLOR:  I just have one question, and I believe it comes back to the first round of questions this morning when we were talking about the graph.

In Exhibit D, tab 2, schedule 1, page 3 of 13, it's the bar chart, which at the top says:  "Reduction of 2.7 million year over year."

And I believe the panel at that point said that the 2011 registration fee and interest income totalled 2.4 million, and that it was incremental.  So I'd just like to clarify that, If you go back to Exhibit D, tab 1, schedule 1, page 2 of 4, that the registration fee income for 2011 is 1.4 million, and the interest income is 600,000; is that correct?

MR. GABRIELE:  That is correct.

MR. TAYLOR:  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And I think I may have led you into that error, Mr. Gabriele.

I have a question that relates to a couple of the areas that Mr. Faye touched upon and that Mr. Millar touched upon.  And it's for you, Mr. Farmer.

It has do with the question of efficiency, basic efficiency, of procurement itself, and whether there is a point at which procurement itself is not efficient, where you've really procured as much electricity as you need to procure.

And I'd like you to put that, to some extent, in juxtaposition to, for example, the conservation programs.  You've indicated in one of your answers that the conservation, you know, is the cheapest way of managing subject matter and so on, and it's cheaper than procurement and so on.

Two questions about that.

When do you reach the point where that relationship inverts, when procurement pursuant to long-term contracts undercuts the efficiency of conservation?  When does that - certainly there is a point where that occurs, is there not?

MR. FARMER:  I'm not entirely sure how to answer your question.  I think -- if you're referring to it, at what point is conservation not cost-effective?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's right.

MR. FARMER:  Yeah.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Given that the contracts that you're letting are 20 years in duration, so that the juxtaposition between procurement of generation and conservation sort of becomes a little --


MR. FARMER:  I understand better your question now.  So there's a couple of things.

In the cost-effectiveness of the long-term plan, what we have -- what we are considering is that the amount of conservation in the plan is actually occurring, and so in looking at the avoided costs, if you will, relative to that piece, so if you look at the IPSP, the Supply Mix Directive that we have, we have been directed to include 7,100 megawatts of reduction and 28 terawatt-hours of energy.  We would look at that in the context of what additional procurements would be required to serve that need, right?

To the extent of one of the things that I think will be debated at great length, and I look forward to that discussion, about the additional conservation, you have to get into would any procurements actually be avoided, which would actually affect the capacity side of avoided costs?

If you're not going to avoid any procurements, then you're not going to avoid any capacity, but you would still save some energy, so you would have the energy side of the avoided costs relevant, if indeed it was revealed that there was no -- if we had hit that inflection point of not needing any procurements.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just in a targetless environment, where you don't have targets for how much procurement you undertake, and referring to your answers, Mr. Cronkwright, that makes that question a pretty relevant question, doesn't it?

MR. FARMER:  But I'm not sure that we're in a targetless environment.  I certainly heard Mr. Cronkwright talk about programs that did not have targets that are related to the programs themselves.  But the Supply Mix Directive does establish some clear targets at various times within the 20-year period for resource types.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Mr. Cass, I recognize that your witness for re-direct has flown the coop.  If it is satisfactory to you, you could pose that question in writing for -- as a re-direct question and have an answer accordingly.  Does anyone have a difficulty with that?  I take sort of personal responsibility for having suggested you ask the re-direct question, and then -- and now you can't.

So if you want to deal with that in writing, the Board would be satisfied with that.

MR. CASS:  Thank you, sir.  And you're quite right it is the very subject that had come up before and you had suggested for re-examination, so thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

I'd like to thank the panel, including Mr. Gabriele, for all of your contribution today.  It's very much appreciated.

We will stand adjourned until tomorrow morning at 9:30, in which case we'll be dealing with -- at which time we'll be dealing with the exports issue and have a full day of that.  Thank you, until 9:30.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:48 p.m.
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